
1 Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL 60069  www.lincolnshireil.gov  P: 847-883-8600  F: 847-883-8608 

AGENDA 
SPECIAL VILLAGE BOARD 

Virtual Meeting 
Tuesday, September 29, 2020 
6:30 p.m. (New Start Time)

This meeting will be conducted by audio or video conference without a quorum of the public 
body physically present because of a disaster declaration related to COVID-19 public health 
concerns affecting the Village of Lincolnshire. The Mayor determined that an in-person 
meeting at the Village Hall with all participants is not practical or prudent because of the 
disaster. 

PUBLIC REMOTE PARTICIPATION OPTIONS 
View/Listen - Watch live on Cable Channel 10 or https://zoom.us/j/94506420355 

o Listen live via phone 312-626-6799 (Access Code = 945-0642-0355).
o Meetings posted to www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-

packets-video the day after meeting.
• Public Comment – Items Not Requiring a Public Hearing

o Rules for public comment during virtual meetings can be found on the Village website
on the “Transparency” webpage. 

o Call 847-913-2312 to leave a voicemail message with your comment by 5:00 p.m.
on Monday, September 29, 2020. For members of the public leaving voicemails, the
voicemails must be:
 Articulate and audibly comprehensible.
 Inclusive of the commenter’s name, organization/agency being represented,

address (street, city, state), phone number, and the topic or agenda item
number the commenter is addressing.

 No more than two minutes in length.
 Free of any abusive or obscene language.

o Email your comment to VOLPublicComment@lincolnshireil.gov by 5:00 p.m. on
Monday, September 29, 2020. You may also submit a letter by dropping it off in the
Village Hall vestibule or mailing it via the United States Postal Service. For members
of the public submitting comment via email or letter, the written notice must be:
 Typed or written legibly.
 Inclusive of the commenter’s name, organization/agency being represented,

address (street, city, state), phone number, and the topic or agenda item
number the commenter is addressing.

 No more than 200 words in length.
 Free of any abusive or obscene language.

o Comments received before the meeting will be read concurrent with respective
agenda item. Comments may be sent to the VOLPublicComment@lincolnshireil.gov
email address during the meeting, but it is not guaranteed they will be read until the
end of the meeting.

1

http://www.lincolnshireil.gov/
https://zoom.us/j/94506420355
http://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video
http://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video
https://www.lincolnshireil.gov/sitemedia/documents/departments-services/Administration/2020_Virtual_Public_Comment_Rules.pdf
mailto:VOLPublicComment@lincolnshireil.gov
mailto:VOLPublicComment@lincolnshireil.gov


Page 2 
AGENDA – Special Village Board  
September 29, 2020 
 

1 Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL 60069  www.lincolnshireil.gov  P: 847-883-8600  F: 847-883-8608 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
1.0 ROLL CALL 
2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 3.1 Pending or Imminent Litigation – 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(11) 
 
4.0 REPORTS OF OFFICERS           
 4.1 Mayor’s Report 
  
 4.2 Village Clerk’s Report 
 
 4.3   Village Treasurer's Report 
  4.31 Revenues and Expenditures for the Month of August, 2020 
    
 4.4 Village Manager's Report  
 
5.0   PAYMENT OF BILLS 
  5.1 Bills Presented for Payment on September 29, 2020 in the amount of 

$634,431.67 
 
6.0 CITIZENS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE BOARD (on non-agenda items only) 

 
7.0     CONSENT AGENDA 

Items on the Consent Agenda will be approved by one motion. If a Trustee wishes to 
discuss any item, it will be pulled from the Consent Agenda and discussed under 
“Unfinished Business”. 
 
7.1 Approval of September 14, 2020 Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes 

 
7.2 Approval of September 14, 2020 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 

 
7.3 Approval of an Ordinance Amending Title 6 (Zoning), Chapter 2 (Zoning 

Definitions), and Chapter 3 (General Zoning Regulations); and Title 11 
(Misdemeanors), Chapter 13 (Animals) of the Lincolnshire Village Code to 
Define and Regulate Certain Accessory Structures and Uses (Urban 
Agriculture) (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

7.4 Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement with the Northfield Township 
Technology Consortium for Internet Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

7.5 Acceptance of Public Improvements for Camberley Club Subdivision (Pulte 
Homes) 
 

7.6 Acceptance of Public Improvements for Lincolnshire Trails (MI Homes) 
 

7.7 Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement Between the State of Illinois, 
Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) and Village of Lincolnshire for 
Sustained Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant for Federal Fiscal Year 
2021 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 

2

http://www.lincolnshireil.gov/


Page 3 
AGENDA – Special Village Board  
September 29, 2020 
 

1 Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL 60069  www.lincolnshireil.gov  P: 847-883-8600  F: 847-883-8608 

 

8.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
8.1 Planning, Zoning & Land Use 
8.2 Finance and Administration 
 8.21 Approval of a Release and Settlement Agreement by and between the 

NorthShore University HealthSystem and the Village of Lincolnshire. 
 

 8.22 Ratification of Master Contract between the Government Information 
Technology Consortium (GovITC) and InterDev LLC for Information 
Technology Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
8.3 Public Works 
 8.31 Approval of a Resolution to Amend a Recreational Path Easement for 

2840 Half Day Road & 23437 Old Mill Road (Waiver of First Reading – 
Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

8.4 Police 
8.5 Parks and Recreation 
8.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

 
9.0  REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES 
10.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
11.0 NEW BUSINESS 
12.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION (None) 
13.0 ADJOURNMENT 

 
Reasonable accommodations/auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with 

disabilities to effectively participate in any public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the 
Village Administrative Office (847-883-8600) 48 hours in advance if you need special 

accommodations to attend.  Regular Village Board Meetings will not proceed past  
10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the majority of the Trustees to do so. 

3

http://www.lincolnshireil.gov/


Revenue and Expense Budget Summary

Period Ending: 08/31/2020
Fiscal Year: 2020

2019 Year-To-Date 2020 Year-To-Date
Revenue Expense OVER/(UNDER) REVENUE EXPENSE OVER/(UNDER)

GENERAL FUND
Revenue 8,236,044       6,934,395       
Administration 224,026          249,071          
Finance 241,198          243,165          
Police 2,330,097       2,296,945       
Community & Economic Dev. 576,901          545,262          
Insurance / Common 1,119,604       1,150,328       
PW: Administration 191,751          167,426          
PW: Streets & Storm Water 822,858          796,273          
PW: Forestry & Parks 957,903          795,458          
PW: Facilities 120,360          112,528          
Debt & Transfers 700,000          - 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 8,236,044$   7,284,698$   951,346$           6,934,395$   6,356,456$   577,939$           

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
Water & Sanitary Sewer Revenue 3,192,247       3,172,738       
Water & Sanitary Sewer Administration 963,173          697,382          
Water & Sanitary Sewer Operating 2,490,068       2,499,205       
Water & Sanitary Sewer Improvements 1,545,777       997,681          583,100          186,097          

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUNDS 4,738,024$   4,450,923$   287,101$           3,755,838$   3,382,684$   373,154$           

NON-OPERATING FUNDS
Motor Fuel Tax 121,410          - 121,410 343,784          - 343,784 
Fraud Alcohol Drug Enforcement 6,658 6,417 241 2,739 78 2,661 
Vehicle Maintenance 321,140          359,490          (38,350) 339,367          336,490          2,877 
Park Development 781,181          - 781,181 137,082          - 137,082 
General Capital - 542,038          (542,038) 71,780 1,708,451       (1,636,671)          

TOTAL NON-OPERATING FUNDS 1,230,389$   907,945$      322,444$           894,752$      2,045,019$   (1,150,267)$      

TRUST FUNDS
Police Pension Fund** 3,019,688       1,031,818       1,987,870 1,216,611       829,751          386,860 
Sedgebrook SSA 603,244          1,152,758       (549,514) 691,969          1,149,600       (457,631) 

TOTAL TRUST FUNDS 3,622,932$   2,184,575$   1,438,357$       1,908,580$   1,979,351$   (70,771)$           

Agenda Item

**The Police Pension amounts are as of 
07/31/2020. The Pension Board contracts their 
accounting services; which sometimes results in a 

4.31

4



Revenues and Expenses by Fund

Period Ending 08/31/2020
Percent of Fiscal Year Complete 66.7%

Annual Budget Year-to-Date % Used Significant Facts

GENERAL FUND
REVENUES
     Taxes 11,001,000         5,876,826           53.4% Sales Tax % of Budget 62.9%
 Local HR Sales Tax % of Budget 62.6%

Food & Beverage % of Budget 41.5%
Room & Admission % of Budget 30.5%

Real Estate Transfer % of Budget 149.1%
03/17/20: Restaurants close to dine-in service
03/17/20-08/21/20: Regal Lincolnshire closed
03/13/20 (re-opening anticipated 03/2021): Marriott Theater closes
05/29/20 Illinois enters Phase 3:Restaurants open for outdoor dining
06/26/20 Illinois enters Phase 4-Restaurants open for limited indoor dining

     Licenses & Fees 814,050             459,811             56.5% Building Permit Fee Revenue $145,176
Bldg Permits % of Licenses & Fees 31.6%

     Fines & Forfeitures 234,000             129,570             55.4%
     Allotments, Grants & Reimbursements 458,000             248,594             54.3%
     Miscellaneous 87,300               34,386               39.4%
     Other Income 240,000             185,208             77.2% 03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent

TOTAL REVENUES 12,834,350$    6,934,395$      54.0%

EXPENSES
     Personnel Expenses 339,890             230,354             67.8%
     Contractual Services 3,200                 -                    0.0%
     Other Charges 32,100               18,717               58.3%
Administration 375,190             249,071             66.4%

     Personnel Expenses 325,220             221,646             68.2%
     Contractual Services 22,590               21,027               93.1%
     Other Charges 4,400                 491                    11.2%
Finance 352,210             243,165             69.0%

     Personnel Expenses 4,045,400          2,041,989           50.5%
     Contractual Services 163,960             79,448               48.5%
     Commodities 45,300               18,598               41.1%
     Other Charges 120,390             38,138               31.7%
     Transfers Out 178,160             118,773             66.7%
Police 4,553,210          2,296,945           50.4%

     Personnel Expenses 509,730             354,155             69.5%
     Contractual Services 191,450             57,144               29.8%
     Other Charges 550,470             130,570             23.7%
     Transfers Out 5,090                 3,393                 66.7%
Community & Economic Dev. 1,256,740          545,262             43.4%

     Contractual Services 1,557,970          1,144,514           73.5%
     Commodities 13,000               4,282                 32.9%
     Other Charges 70,000               1,533                 2.2%
Insurance & Common 1,640,970          1,150,328           70.1%

Public Works
     Personnel Expenses 222,200             152,911             68.8%
     Contractual Services 41,500               6,432                 15.5%
     Other Charges 13,130               8,083                 61.6%
   Admin 276,830             167,426             60.5%

     Personnel Expenses 600,100             377,984             63.0%
     Contractual Services 496,500             238,003             47.9%
     Commodities 112,800             70,330               62.3%
     Other Charges 15,830               8,142                 51.4%
     Transfers Out 152,720             101,813             66.7%
   Streets 1,377,950          796,273             57.8%

     Personnel Expenses 608,400             357,619             58.8%
     Contractual Services 679,080             330,631             48.7% Includes Insurance Covered Exp
     Commodities 51,500               20,814               40.4%
     Other Charges 13,230               8,340                 63.0%
     Transfers Out 117,080             78,053               66.7%
   Parks & Open Space 1,469,290          795,458             54.1%

Page: 1 of 3
5



Annual Budget Year-to-Date % Used Significant Facts

     Contractual Services 139,520             94,230               67.5%
     Commodities 19,000               13,612               71.6%
     Other Charges 3,000                 1,293                 43.1%
     Transfers Out 5,090                 3,393                 66.7%
   Buildings & Grounds 166,610             112,528             67.5%

     Transfers Out 1,326,180          -                    0.0%
   Debt & Transfers 1,326,180          -                    0.0%

         
TOTAL EXPENSES 12,795,180$    6,356,456$      49.7%

WATER & SEWER FUND
REVENUES
     Licenses & Fees 5,243,300          3,163,746           60.3%  
     Miscellaneous Revenue 12,000               7,748                 64.6%
     Other Income 5,000                 1,245                 24.9% 03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent

TOTAL REVENUES 5,260,300$      3,172,738$      60.3%

EXPENSES
     Personnel Expenses 274,060             188,419             68.8%
     Contractual Services 245,830             200,590             81.6%
     Commodities 1,440                 476                    33.0%
     Other Charges 2,320                 1,550                 66.8%
     Other Expenses -                    2                        0.0%
     Transfers Out 408,460             306,345             75.0%
   Administration 932,110             697,382             74.8%

     Personnel Expenses 565,200             396,356             70.1%
     Contractual Services 3,590,930          2,015,749           56.1%
     Commodities 27,950               23,256               83.2%
     Other Charges 34,550               29,903               86.6%
     Transfers Out 50,910               33,940               66.7%
   Operating 4,269,540          2,499,205           58.5%

          
TOTAL EXPENSES 5,201,650$      3,196,587$      61.5%  

WATER & SEWER IMPROVEMENT FUND
REVENUES
     Licenses & Fees 200,000             275,274             137.6%
     Miscellaneous Revenue -                    -                    0.0%
     Other Income 7,000                 1,481                 21.2% 03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent
     Transfers 2,940,710          306,345             10.4%

TOTAL REVENUES 3,147,710$      583,100$          18.5%

EXPENSES
     Capital Outlay 3,138,000          186,097             5.9%

TOTAL EXPENSES 3,138,000$      186,097$          5.9%

MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND
REVENUES
     Allotments, Grants & Reimbursements 184,000             343,346             186.6% includes Rebuild Illinois Grant Revenue
     Other Income 1,000                 438                    43.8% 03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent

TOTAL REVENUES 185,000$         343,784$          185.8%

EXPENSES
     Capital Projects -                    -                    0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES -$                  -$                  0.0%

FRAUD, ALCOHOL & DRUG ENFORCEMENT FUND
REVENUES
     Other Income -                    2,739                 0.0%

TOTAL REVENUES -$                  2,739$              0.0%

EXPENSES
     Other Charges 11,990               78                      0.7%
     Transfers 50,000               -                    0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 61,990$            78$                   0.1%

Page: 2 of 3
6



Annual Budget Year-to-Date % Used Significant Facts

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE FUND
REVENUES
     Transfers 509,050             339,367             66.7%

TOTAL REVENUES 509,050$         339,367$          66.7%

EXPENSES
     Personnel Expenses 203,100             135,799             66.9%
     Contractual Services 162,400             100,385             61.8%
     Commodities 134,800             95,705               71.0%
     Other Charges 8,750                 4,600                 52.6%

TOTAL EXPENSES 509,050$         336,490$          66.1%

PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND
REVENUES
     Other Income 178,170             137,082             76.9% 03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent

TOTAL REVENUES 178,170$         137,082$          76.9%

EXPENSES
     Other Charges -                    -                    0.0%
     Transfers 1,044,000          -                    0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,044,000$      -$                  0.0%

GENERAL CAPITAL
REVENUES
     Grants -                    5,175                 0.0%
     Other Income 917,740             66,605               7.3%
     Transfers  In (112,070)            -                    0.0%

TOTAL REVENUES 805,670$         71,780$            8.9%

EXPENSES
     Facilities 797,500             253,158             31.7%
     Equipment 144,500             116,730             80.8%
     Furniture & Fixtures -                    -                    0.0%
     Storm Sewer & Water 520,000             60,882               11.7%
     Parks 1,534,500          452,967             29.5%
     Roadways 1,392,500          824,715             59.2%
     Vehicles 150,000             -                    0.0%
     Miscellaneous Capital 7,500                 -                    0.0%

TOTAL EXPENSES 4,546,500$      1,708,451$      37.6%

POLICE PENSION FUND**
REVENUES
     Taxes 959,500             439,654             45.8% Property Taxes
     Miscellaneous Revenue 254,300             162,149             63.8%
     Other Income 489,000             614,808             125.7% Investment Income (03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent)

TOTAL REVENUES 1,702,800$      1,216,611$      71.4%

EXPENSES
     Contractual Services 95,800               63,586               66.4%
     Other Charges 7,000                 -                    0.0%
     Other Charges 1,600,000          766,165             47.9%

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,702,800$      829,751$          48.7%
**The Police Pension amounts are as of 07/31/2020.
The Pension Board contracts their accounting services; which sometimes results in a reporting delay.

SEDGEBROOK SSA
REVENUES
     Taxes 1,159,690          679,439             58.6%
     Other Income 21,000               12,531               59.7% Interest Income (03/15/20: Fed lowers rate to 0 to 1/4 percent)

TOTAL REVENUES 1,180,690$      691,969$          58.6%

EXPENSES
     Contractual Services 16,620               225                    1.4%
     Capital Outlay 1,164,070          1,149,375           98.7%

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,180,690$      1,149,600$      97.4%

Page: 3 of 3
7



Column1 Column2
General Fund 124,528.82$  
Water & Sewer Fund 383,109.04$  
Motor Fuel Tax
Water & Sewer Improvement Fund 34,727.74$  
Fraud, Alcohol, Drug Enforcement
Vehicle Maintenance Fund 1,298.30$  
Park Development Fund
Sedgebrook SSA
General Capital Fund 90,767.77$  
Grand Total 634,431.67$            

________________________________
Brad Burke, Village Manager

AGENDA ITEM 5.1

BILLS PRESENTED FOR PAYMENT 
09/29/2020

V:\Finance\Dept\Accounts Payable\Prelist_APBankTrf.xlsx8



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 1/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: 231 OLD HALF DAY PROPERTIES, LLC
3,600.00BD Tree Bond Refund - 231 Olde Half Day20200922-231

3,600.00TOTAL VENDOR 231 OLD HALF DAY PROPERTIES

VENDOR NAME: A T & T
67.5809/12 - 10/11/20 NP Internet Svc148060081-09/20

67.58TOTAL VENDOR A T & T

VENDOR NAME: ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATED
53.11September  2020 Creative Cloud Suite2020-09

53.11TOTAL VENDOR ADOBE SYSTEMS INCORPORATE

VENDOR NAME: ADVANCED BUSINESS GR
125.00September 2020 site-to-site VPN00022794

125.00TOTAL VENDOR ADVANCED BUSINESS GR

VENDOR NAME: ALLEGIANT FIRE PROTECTION LLC
128.00Fire Extinguisher Testing - Public WorksS0017825

128.00TOTAL VENDOR ALLEGIANT FIRE PROTECTION L

VENDOR NAME: AMAZON.COM
59.99Disinfecctant for Village - COVID-19111990031416898
34.99Engineering Ruler & Sunscreen for PW111804108215778
98.82Multi-Purpose Cleaner - COVID-19111568244870450
28.00Headphones - Utilities Division111439386557874
90.84(2) Utility Cloth Rolls111300562839418
83.96Red/Blue emergency lights for patrol bike111-2332742-187
78.69Sharpie, post-it notes, label tape, & 9 X 1112-42698-39130

475.29TOTAL VENDOR AMAZON.COM

VENDOR NAME: AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOC-ILLINOIS CH
127.382020  Fall American Planning AssociationREFYILVLNNH

127.38TOTAL VENDOR AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOC-IL

VENDOR NAME: AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION
1,225.00APWA Membership Renewal 11-1-20 to 121900-20/21

1,225.00TOTAL VENDOR AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASS

VENDOR NAME: AMERICAN WELDING & GAS, INC.
125.15Gas Cylinder Rental07318315

125.15TOTAL VENDOR AMERICAN WELDING & GAS, IN

VENDOR NAME: ANCEL GLINK DIAMOND BUSH
0.75BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_Kirsch Sub77618a

58.00BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_Kirsch Sub77618a_balance d
117.50BD Bond Escrow Attorney Fee_Fat Rosie's77618b

7,668.37August 2020 Legal Fees2020-08A

7,844.62TOTAL VENDOR ANCEL GLINK DIAMOND BUSH

VENDOR NAME: ATL FIRST AID, INC
44.17First Aid Supplies - North Park16598

44.17TOTAL VENDOR ATL FIRST AID, INC

VENDOR NAME: B & F CONSTRUCTION CODE SERVICES
1,232.50August 2020 Inspections13328

1,232.50TOTAL VENDOR B & F CONSTRUCTION CODE SE
9



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 2/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: BADE SUPPLY
57.00Bee Spray38559

404.77Hand Soap, Paper Cups, Forks, Garbage 38558

461.77TOTAL VENDOR BADE SUPPLY

VENDOR NAME: BAXTER & WOODMAN INC.
16,290.882020 Phase 3 Engineering Resurfacing0213725
6,496.38Phase 3 Engineering - Bike Path Resurfaci190274.60

22,787.26TOTAL VENDOR BAXTER & WOODMAN INC.

VENDOR NAME: BENISTAR
1,023.04October 2020 O65 Medical Premiums10012020

1,023.04TOTAL VENDOR BENISTAR

VENDOR NAME: BHFX DIGITAL IMAGING
145.83Plotter Base Charge (08/01/20 - 08/31/2375337

145.83TOTAL VENDOR BHFX DIGITAL IMAGING

VENDOR NAME: BOLLINGER, LACH & ASSOC
1,202.78Crosstown Water Main Design Segment 420527-9

1,202.78TOTAL VENDOR BOLLINGER, LACH & ASSOC

VENDOR NAME: CALL ONE
1,008.5509/15/20 Monthly Phone Bill 1208882318470

1,008.55TOTAL VENDOR CALL ONE

VENDOR NAME: CHAIN O LAKES LUMBER
889.06Sign Post Replacement35387

889.06TOTAL VENDOR CHAIN O LAKES LUMBER 

VENDOR NAME: CHRISTOPHER B BURKE ENGINEERING LTD
7,466.00South Village Green Professional Services 160599

7,466.00TOTAL VENDOR CHRISTOPHER B BURKE ENGINE

VENDOR NAME: CINTAS CORPORATION #47P
111.00Weekly Uniform Rental - Public Works & P4061302748
108.58Weekly Uniform Rental - Public Works4062034751

219.58TOTAL VENDOR CINTAS CORPORATION #47P

VENDOR NAME: CLARK BAIRD SMITH LLP
255.00Legal/Labor General13023

255.00TOTAL VENDOR CLARK BAIRD SMITH LLP

VENDOR NAME: CLARK MICHAEL
10.00Meal Reimbursement Impact Munitions Tr09222020

10.00TOTAL VENDOR CLARK MICHAEL

VENDOR NAME: COMCAST CABLE
108.35Sept_Oct 2020 SCADA_101 Westminster Sep_Oct 2020 011
14.81Sept_Oct Village Hall Cable Box_8771100Sept_Oct VH Cable

123.16TOTAL VENDOR COMCAST CABLE

VENDOR NAME: COMED
228.71Rate 23 Street Lighting 8-5-20 to 9-3-206123019023-09-2
36.99Riverside Drive (2 Street Lights) 8-4-20 t1475038068-09-2
61.59207 Northampton Pumping 7-31-20 to 8-0268410000-09-210



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 3/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: COMED
327.29TOTAL VENDOR COMED

VENDOR NAME: CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, INC.
4,525.78Electric Supply ESR 7-30-20 to 8-28-2018230651101

137.71Electric Supply Londonderry 7-30-20 to 818230326901
1,820.26Electric Supply WSR 7-30-20 to 8-28-2018230708501
1,754.99Electric Supply NP 7-31-20 to 8-31-2018243326901

35.43Electric Supply SLP 7-1-20 to 8-28-2018238871201

8,274.17TOTAL VENDOR CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, I

VENDOR NAME: CORPORATE WELLNESS PARTNERS LLC
150.00DOT Random Drug Testing Clauser, Geib, 00006025-00

150.00TOTAL VENDOR CORPORATE WELLNESS PARTNE

VENDOR NAME: DIVINCI PAINTERS
3,220.00Village Hall Soffit Repairs34682-2

3,220.00TOTAL VENDOR DIVINCI PAINTERS

VENDOR NAME: DREISILKER ELECTRIC MOTORS, INC.
2,998.00Pump #2 WSRI163120

2,998.00TOTAL VENDOR DREISILKER ELECTRIC MOTORS

VENDOR NAME: ELEVATOR INSPECTION SERVICES
76.00September 2020 Elevator Inspections 4@94959

190.00August 2020 Elevator Inspections @$19/I94680

266.00TOTAL VENDOR ELEVATOR INSPECTION SERVIC

VENDOR NAME: ETERNALLY GREEN
840.00Weed Control Application - North Park Py10256182020WCA

1,635.50Fertilization and Weed Control Application 16182020FWCA2

2,475.50TOTAL VENDOR ETERNALLY GREEN

VENDOR NAME: EXTRA SPACE STORAGE
297.00Various Events - September 2020 Storag1003660718-09-2

297.00TOTAL VENDOR EXTRA SPACE STORAGE

VENDOR NAME: FEDEX
12.72Tactical Electronics Repairs Shipping Cost7-111-92581

12.72TOTAL VENDOR FEDEX

VENDOR NAME: FIRST MIDWEST BANK
357.6008 2020 Lockbox Service0820a
113.2007 2020 Lockbox Service (2)0820

470.80TOTAL VENDOR FIRST MIDWEST BANK

VENDOR NAME: FOREMAN, JD
405.93Vavle Leak on Port Clinton34631
210.00Water Parts328031

615.93TOTAL VENDOR FOREMAN, JD

VENDOR NAME: GEWALT HAMILTON ASSOCIATES
1,143.57ITEP Phase 2 Design - Riverwoods Path4904.403-1

544.80ITEP Phase 2 Design - Riverwoods Path4904.403-2

1,688.37TOTAL VENDOR GEWALT HAMILTON ASSOCIATE

VENDOR NAME: GLOEDE JASON11



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 4/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: GLOEDE JASON
10.00Meal Reimbursement Impact Munitions Tr09222020

10.00TOTAL VENDOR GLOEDE JASON

VENDOR NAME: GRAINGER, INC.
42.12Disposable Rubber Gloves for Fleet9650732630

42.12TOTAL VENDOR GRAINGER, INC.

VENDOR NAME: GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY
36,135.20North Park Lighting Upgrades9316785159
1,376.64North Park Lighting Upgrades9316658485

0.05North Park Lighting Upgrades9316066109
13,811.70North Park Lighting Upgrades9317561120
3,942.14North Park Lighting Upgrades9316635763

55,265.73TOTAL VENDOR GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY

VENDOR NAME: GREEN ACRES LANDSCAPING
15,644.00Landscape Maintenance - Corridor Mowin2020-6189

540.00Landscape Maintenance Services - Creeks2020-6190

16,184.00TOTAL VENDOR GREEN ACRES LANDSCAPING

VENDOR NAME: HALF DAY BREWING
10,207.20Tax Sharing 2nd Qtr 20202020 0630

10,207.20TOTAL VENDOR HALF DAY BREWING

VENDOR NAME: HIGHLAND PARK, CITY OF
33,035.2108/2020 Water Purchase 11991 cuft Metr 009297-08-20

192,312.7808/2020 Water Purchase 69805 Cuft Metr 009348-08-20

225,347.99TOTAL VENDOR HIGHLAND PARK, CITY OF

VENDOR NAME: HODGES BADGE CO.
84.00Grand Opening Plaque_Fat Rosie's20016509

84.00TOTAL VENDOR HODGES BADGE CO.

VENDOR NAME: ICON BUILDING CORP.
5,325.00BD Tree Bond Refund - 97 Elm20200922

5,325.00TOTAL VENDOR ICON BUILDING CORP.

VENDOR NAME: ILCMA
20.00B. Gilbertson Admin Adjudication Present880 1591 4542
20.00J. Cascone Administrative Adjudication Pr880 1591 4542a

40.00TOTAL VENDOR ILCMA

VENDOR NAME: INNER SECURITY SYSTEMS
157.00Radio Transmitter to FD - PW Service Call 119711
157.00Radio transmitter to fire dept - NP Servic119709

314.00TOTAL VENDOR INNER SECURITY SYSTEMS

VENDOR NAME: INTERDEV, LLC
6,973.44August 2020 IT ServicesMSP1027331

308.00August 2020 License FeesMSP1027331-2

7,281.44TOTAL VENDOR INTERDEV, LLC

VENDOR NAME: INT'L SOCIETY OF ARBORICULTURE
170.00Jeremy Hakala ISA Exam Fee08272020

170.00TOTAL VENDOR INT'L SOCIETY OF ARBORICULT
12



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 5/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: KLUBER ARCHITECTS + ENGINEERS
2,008.33Engineering for Village Hall Brick Repairs7355

2,008.33TOTAL VENDOR KLUBER ARCHITECTS + ENGINE

VENDOR NAME: LAKE COUNTY DIV OF TRANSPORATION
1,262.193rd Quarter Traffic Signal Maintenance Ju430028530

1,262.19TOTAL VENDOR LAKE COUNTY DIV OF TRANSPO

VENDOR NAME: LAKE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS
130,547.25Sanitary sewer treatment bill dates 7-16-LCPW-09-20
40,300.00Swr Conn - Cty Fees Collected 10 Properti08-0920

170,847.25TOTAL VENDOR LAKE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS

VENDOR NAME: LIBERTYVILLE CHEVROLET
814.21Truck 242 Starter Replacement229799

814.21TOTAL VENDOR LIBERTYVILLE CHEVROLET

VENDOR NAME: MCH SPORTS SURFACES, INC.
6,280.00North Park B-Ball Color Coating125

6,280.00TOTAL VENDOR MCH SPORTS SURFACES, INC.

VENDOR NAME: MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY
101.08Bolts for Stock45405502
29.55Hydrant Bolts45635709

130.63TOTAL VENDOR MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY

VENDOR NAME: MENONI & MOCOGNI, IN
455.00Construction Materials - Rip Rap #31397259

3,103.70Spoil Haulings - 45 Londonderry & Oxford 08312020

3,558.70TOTAL VENDOR MENONI & MOCOGNI, IN

VENDOR NAME: MID AMERICAN WATER OF WAUCONDA INC.
1,176.45200 Schelter Rd - Hydrant Replacement233336W

120.00Flush Box on Old Mill233042W-1
160.00Old Mill Road - Manhole Frame232042W

1,456.45TOTAL VENDOR MID AMERICAN WATER OF WAU

VENDOR NAME: MORTON SALT
162.70Malicki Home Depot Reimbursement09222020

162.70TOTAL VENDOR MORTON SALT

VENDOR NAME: NORTH SHORE GAS
37.30Well #3 Gas Service 8-11-20 to 9-8-20606253075-01-09-
33.14Old Mill Liftstation 8-11-20 to 9-8-20604290016-01-09-
34.36NP Concession Service 8-8-20 to 9-8-20603028481-02-09-
32.72Farrington Liftstation 8-8-20 to 9-8-20604290016-03-09-
34.83Westwood Liftstation 8-11-20 to 9-9-20604290016-02-09-
34.8524400 Riverwoods 8-8-20 to 9-8-2060617125-01-09-2
35.40207A Northampton 8-8-20 to 9-8-20604290016-05-09-
34.39Fallstone Liftstation 8-11-20 to 9-8-20604290016-04-09-
38.12NP Maint. Bldg Gas Service 8-8-20 to 9-8603028481-01-09-

315.11TOTAL VENDOR NORTH SHORE GAS

VENDOR NAME: OAK BROOK MECHANICAL SERVICES INC.
832.88Contractor Replaced Part on VH AC Syste20234

832.88TOTAL VENDOR OAK BROOK MECHANICAL SERV13



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 6/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC.
167.90Legal Notice_Zoning Board_09/08/2020154816

167.90TOTAL VENDOR PADDOCK PUBLICATIONS, INC.

VENDOR NAME: PASQUESI HOME & GARD
271.85Flowers and Pumpkins for VH & PW Fall Pl28789/1

271.85TOTAL VENDOR PASQUESI HOME & GARD

VENDOR NAME: PAYLOCITY
663.1509/25/20 Pay Services107097226

663.15TOTAL VENDOR PAYLOCITY

VENDOR NAME: PBA, INC./FLEXIBLE BENEFITS
200.00September 2020 Flex Fees131341

200.00TOTAL VENDOR PBA, INC./FLEXIBLE BENEFITS

VENDOR NAME: RIVERWOODS VILLAGE OF
7,783.97Annual Sanitary Sewer Transmission Fee Annual_Fee_2020

7,783.97TOTAL VENDOR RIVERWOODS VILLAGE OF

VENDOR NAME: RJN GROUP INC.
4,202.70Sanitary Rehab Professionnal Services thr355106

4,202.70TOTAL VENDOR RJN GROUP INC.

VENDOR NAME: RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT
321.41Chainsaw Chains, Files, Bar Oil & Bar RepSPI10397503

321.41TOTAL VENDOR RUSSO POWER EQUIPMENT

VENDOR NAME: SAFARILAND GROUP
275.00Impact Munitions Training - Zange70383
275.00Impact Munitions Training - Clark70384
275.00Impact Munitions Training- J Gloede70385

825.00TOTAL VENDOR SAFARILAND GROUP

VENDOR NAME: SCHELL SEALCOATING LLC
1,300.00Service Leak Restoration @ 52 Kings Cros09042020

1,300.00TOTAL VENDOR SCHELL SEALCOATING LLC

VENDOR NAME: SEGURA LANDSCAPE
792.002 Buckingham - Parkway Restoration3229

792.00TOTAL VENDOR SEGURA LANDSCAPE

VENDOR NAME: SIMPSON M. E.
395.00Leak Locating on 8-5-20 for 43 Lancaster35502
395.00Leak Locating on 8-13-20 @ 52 Kings Cro35516
725.00Leak Locating on 8-3-20 and 8-7-20 @ 535501

1,515.00TOTAL VENDOR SIMPSON M. E.

VENDOR NAME: SOUTH TABLE REAL ESTATE LLC
500.00BD Payment Refund_Village Green_185 M20146116

1,000.00BD Bond RefundB20-0012E_REFUN

1,500.00TOTAL VENDOR SOUTH TABLE REAL ESTATE LLC

VENDOR NAME: STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.
2,861.04WSR Tank Mixers0164212
3,348.07WSR Tank Mixers Professional Services th0163386 14



CUSTOM INVOICE REPORT FOR VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 7/7Page:09/24/2020 12:09 PM
User: npanos
DB: Lincolnshire

INVOICE DUE DATES 09/15/2020 - 09/29/2020
JOURNALIZED

BOTH OPEN AND PAID

AMOUNTDESCRIPTION
INVOICE
NUMBER

VENDOR NAME: STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.
11,189.82Water Model Professional Services 8-1-20 0164106
11,923.33Water Model Professional Services Profess0163155

29,322.26TOTAL VENDOR STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC. 

VENDOR NAME: TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTION INC.
521.15Street Signs105163

521.15TOTAL VENDOR TRAFFIC CONTROL & PROTECTI

VENDOR NAME: TRAVELERS
1,036.81Youle False Arrest deductible583042

1,036.81TOTAL VENDOR TRAVELERS

VENDOR NAME: TREES "R" US, INC.
4,325.382020 Insecticidal Treatment of Ash Trees24561

4,325.38TOTAL VENDOR TREES "R" US, INC.

VENDOR NAME: USA BLUE BOOK
42.65Pump #2 WSR339339

42.65TOTAL VENDOR USA BLUE BOOK

VENDOR NAME: VERIZON WIRELESS
237.1408/13/20 - 09/12/20 SCADA Data Plan Ut9862700314

237.14TOTAL VENDOR VERIZON WIRELESS

VENDOR NAME: WEADICK BARRETT
20.00Meal Reimbursement Breath Op Training09152020

20.00TOTAL VENDOR WEADICK BARRETT

VENDOR NAME: ZANGE JASON
7.76Meal Reimbursement Impact Munitions Tr09222020

7.76TOTAL VENDOR ZANGE JASON

634,431.67GRAND TOTAL:

15



 
 

 

MINUTES 
REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

September 14, 2020 
Present:  
Mayor Brandt  Trustee Grujanac  
Trustee Hancock  Trustee Harms Muth  
Trustee Leider  Trustee Pantelis  
Trustee Raizin  Village Clerk Mastandrea 
Village Attorney Simon  Village Manager Burke 
Chief of Police Leonas Village Treasurer/Finance Director Peterson 
Public Works Director Woodbury Assistant Village Manager/Community & 

Economic Development Director Gilbertson 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village 
Engineer Dittrich 

 

*This was a remote video-conference meeting* 
 
1.0 ROLL CALL 

Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m., and Village Clerk Mastandrea 
called the Roll. 
 

2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
     
3.0  REPORTS OF OFFICERS 

3.1 Mayor’s Report  
3.1 Trick-or-Treating 
 

Mayor Brandt stated Lincolnshire will be having Trick-or-Treating this 
year. If families want to participate they can do so. It currently meets 
the Re-Open Illinois Phase 4 criteria. If the state comes out with a 
different directive, this could change and residents will be updated. 
Mayor Brandt stated she has gotten a lot of feedback from the 
community about allowance of Trick-or-Treating; especially since Boo 
Bash was canceled.  
 

3.2 Village Clerk’s Report – None 
 

3.3 Village Treasurer’s Report – None 
 

3.4 Village Manager’s Report 
3.41  Special Event Committee Meeting 
 
 Village Manager Burke noted Village staff held a Special Event 

Committee meeting to discuss different ways to celebrate leading up 
to Halloween since Boo Bash is not taking place this year. Staff will 
report back to the Board regarding their ideas. Village Manager Burke 
stated there was a discussion in the meeting on how the Village would 
help those who do not want to participate in Trick-or-Treating due to 

16



Page 2 
MINUTES –Village Board Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

the need for being socially distant. Staff is coming up with some 
guidelines to help assist with this message. One idea was for homes to 
download a PDF they could hang in their windows that would be visible 
from the roadway.  

 
 Trustee Raizin stated she also received a lot of feedback from 

residents and one of the ideas of the residents was instead of not 
participating, have a sign to put on a door, window, or mailbox if they 
are participating. Trustee Raizin stated a positive sign might be a 
better message.  

 
3.42 Meeting Reminders 
 
 Village Manager Burke stated the second meeting in September will be 

held on Tuesday, September 29 which was approved on the calendar 
last year when considering the meeting for the year. The first meeting 
in October will also be held on a Tuesday due to Columbus Day. 

 
 Staff is hoping to host a hybrid meeting for September 29; Board 

members could participate either remotely or in-person at the Village 
Hall.   

 
3.43 Leaf Collection 
 
 Staff has been getting inquiries regarding leaf collection. Village 

Manager Burke noted leaf collection will be happening this year, but it 
typically doesn’t start until mid-October and staff will get the 
information out. Village Manager Burke noted in the past few years, 
leaf collection has been extended, so staff is working with Waste 
Management on an alternate schedule due to leaves coming down 
later.  

 
3.44 April 6 Consolidated Election 
 
 Village Manager Burke reminded the Board that the petition circulation 

period for the April 6 consolidated election starts September 22. There 
are three Trustee positions whose terms will be up in 2021.  

 
3.45 Spring Cleanup 
 
 Trustee Hancock asked about the rescheduled spring cleanup and 

asked if additional notification should be sent out since it has been 
rescheduled. 

 
 Village Manager Burke noted staff has been posting the information 

weekly on social media and in E-News. Village Manager Burke 
suggested sending out a Blackboard connect message and putting out 
the electronic signage boards.  

 
 

  

17



Page 3 
MINUTES –Village Board Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 
4.0 PAYMENT OF BILLS 

4.1 Bills Presented for Payment on September 14, 2020 in the amount of 
$910,188.12 

 
 A summary of the September 14, 2020 bills prelist was presented for 

payment with the total being $910,188.12. The total amount is based on 
$278,500 for General Fund; $42,700 for Water & Sewer Fund; $2,400 for 
Water & Sewer Improvement Fund; $33,400 for Vehicle Maintenance Fund; 
and $553,200 for General Capital Fund.  

 
 Trustee Harms Muth asked why the General Capital Fund was such a 

substantial amount this pay period. Village Manager Burke stated the major 
expenditure is for the asphalt project; the completion of what took place over 
the summer months. Village Manager Burke noted there is a $100,000 
expenditure for the Whytegate Park project which included the Whytegate 
Park tennis courts; a $50,000 expenditure for brick repairs at Village Hall; 
and $350,000 to Schroeder Asphalt for the 2020 Paving Program which 
includes street and parking lot resurfacing at North Park and the Public Works 
Facility. 

 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Leider seconded the motion to approve 
the bills prelist dated September 14, 2020 as presented. The roll call vote was 
as follows:  
 
AYES: Grujanac, Hancock, Harms Muth, Leider, Pantelis, Raizin 
NAYS: None  
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None  

   
Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried. 

 
5.0 CITIZENS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE BOARD (on agenda items only) 

 
6.0 CONSENT AGENDA  

6.1 Approval of August 24, 2020 Regular Village Board Meeting Minutes 
 
6.2 Approval of August 24, 2020 Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes 
 
6.3 Approval of an Ordinance Amending Title 1 (Administration), Chapter 

8 (Village Finances), Chapter 10 (Annexation Procedures), and 
Chapter 15 (Comprehensive Fee Schedule) of the Lincolnshire Village 
Code Regarding Planning/Application/Escrow Fees and Annexation 
Procedures (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
6.4 Approval of an Ordinance Regarding Text Amendments to Chapters 2 

(Zoning Definitions) and Chapter 3 (General Zoning Regulations) of 
Title 6 (Zoning of the Lincolnshire Village Code to Define and Regulate 
Massage Businesses as Special Accessory Uses (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
6.5 Approval of a Contract with American Underground at a Cost not to 

18



Page 4 
MINUTES –Village Board Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

Exceed $60,461.56 for the 2020 Sanitary and Storm Sewer Cleaning 
and Televising Project (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
6.6 Approval of a Resolution Approving an Agreement Pertaining to the 

Regulation of Traffic and Parking at 400, 450, 405, 425 and 445 South 
Village Green (Village Place Condominiums & Village Green of 
Lincolnshire Condominium Association) 

 
 Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Leider seconded the motion to approve 

the Consent Agenda as presented. The roll call vote was as follows:  
 
AYES: Grujanac, Hancock, Harms Muth, Leider, Raizin, Pantelis 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None  
 
Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried.   
 

7.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
7.1 Planning, Zoning & Land Use 

 
7.2 Finance and Administration 

7.21 Approval of an Ordinance Authorizing a Seventh Extension of a 
Declaration of Emergency (Village of Lincolnshire – Waiver of 
First Reading Requested) 

 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the 
motion to waive the first reading of an Ordinance authorizing a 
seventh extension of a Declaration of Emergency. The roll call vote 
was as follows:  
 
AYES: Harms Muth, Leider, Grujanac, Pantelis, Raizin, Hancock  
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None  
 
Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried. 
 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the 
motion to approve an Ordinance authorizing a seventh extension of a 
Declaration of Emergency. The roll call vote was as follows:  
 
AYES: Harms Muth, Leider, Grujanac, Pantelis, Raizin, Hancock  
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None  
 
Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried. 

 
7.3 Public Works 
7.4 Police 

7.41 Approval of an Extension to an Intergovernmental Agreement 

19



Page 5 
MINUTES –Village Board Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

Regarding Regional 9-1-1 Consolidate Project (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
 Chief of Police Leonas provided a brief summary of an extension to an 

Intergovernmental Agreement regarding Regional 9-1-1 Consolidate 
Project. This will commit all municipalities involved to one more year of 
research, but at no cost.  
 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Leider seconded the motion to 
approve an extension to an Intergovernmental Agreement regarding 
Regional 9-1-1 Consolidate Project. The roll call vote was as follows:  

 
AYES: Harms Muth, Leider, Grujanac, Pantelis, Raizin, Hancock  
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: None 
ABSTAIN: None  
 
Mayor Brandt declared the motion carried. 

  
7.5 Parks and Recreation 
7.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

 
8.0 REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES 
 
9.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

 
10.0 NEW BUSINESS  

 
11.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
12.0 ADJOURNMENT 

 
 Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the motion to adjourn. 

The voice vote was unanimous and Mayor Brandt declared the meeting adjourned at 
7:17 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 
 
 
 
 Barbara Mastandrea 
 Village Clerk 

20



  
 

MINUTES 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

September 14, 2020  
Present: 
Mayor Brandt Trustee Grujanac 
Trustee Hancock Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Leider  Trustee Pantelis 
Trustee Raizin  Village Clerk Mastandrea 
Village Attorney Simon Village Manager Burke 
Chief of Police Leonas Treasurer/Finance Director Peterson 
Public Works Director Woodbury Assistant Village Manager/Community & 

Economic Development Director Gilbertson 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya  
*This was a remote video-conference meeting* 
       
1.0 ROLL CALL 

Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:17 p.m., and Village Clerk Mastandrea 
called the Roll. 

 
2.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

2.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use  
2.11 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending the Lincolnshire 

Village Code Title 6 (Zoning), Chapter 2 (Zoning Definitions), 
and Chapter 3 (General Zoning Regulations); and Title 11 
(Misdemeanors), Chapter 13 (Animals) Pertaining to 
Temporary Growing Structures, Beekeeping on Non-Residential 
Property, Chickens, and Accessory Structures (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic Development (CED) 

Director Gilbertson provided a summary and presentation of an 
Ordinance amending the village code Title 6, (Zoning), Chapter 2 
(Zoning Definitions), and Chapter 3 (General Zoning Regulations); and 
Title 11 (Misdemeanors), Chapter 13 (Animals) pertaining to 
temporary growing structures, beekeeping on non-residential property, 
chickens, and accessory structures. The presentation included 
background of seasonal/accessory structures and a possible pilot 
program for backyard chickens. Assistant Village Manager/CED 
Director Gilbertson noted the Zoning Board provided unanimous 
favorable recommendations to permit the Lincolnshire Marriott resort 
continue beekeeping activities and to regulate seasonal agricultural 
structures. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson 
requested Village Board feedback regarding the maximum number and 
exceptions for accessory structures, as the Zoning Board expressed 
interest in increasing the maximum number above the current 
regulation of two. 

21



Page 2 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

 A discussion related to accessory structures and owning chickens in 
the Village followed. Trustee Harms Muth asked for clarification 
regarding the Zoning Board meeting noting her take from the meeting 
was that the Zoning Board thought if someone was going to have a 
chicken coop, this was the only accessory structure a resident could 
have. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated this is 
a correct statement, and the Zoning Board contemplated increasing 
the number of accessory structures if a resident wanted a chicken 
coop, as these property owners should not be treated differently than 
other property owners who do not have chicken coops but could have 
more than one accessory structure. The Zoning Board also 
contemplated increasing the overall number of accessory structures 
permissible in residential zoning districts. 

 
 Trustee Grujanac asked if people are allowed to have a gazebo, 

external screen house, or shed. Assistant Village Manager/CED 
Director confirmed all these structures were allowed in the Village. 
Trustee Grujanac asked how a shed is required to conform along the 
back property line. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson 
stated if a resident wants a shed, it has to be within 5’ of the principal 
structure. If it is in the rear yard and side yards, it needs to be within 
2’ of the principal structure. Trustee Grujanac asked if a coop would 
need to follow the same guidelines as a shed. Assistant Village 
Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated the recommended program 
parameters of the chicken coop is within 10’ of the principal structure. 
Trustee Grujanac expressed her opinion that the Zoning Board 
recommendation would make an exception for the chicken coops and 
treat them differently than other accessory structures. Trustee 
Grujanac noted she felt all accessory structures should be treated 
similarly – particularly sheds and chicken coops.  

 
 Trustees Leider and Grujanac expressed they were not in favor of 

increasing the amount of accessory structures on a property. Trustee 
Leider queried whether the Village Board would want to be even more 
restrictive than current regulations. Mayor Brandt noted some of the 
responses from residents have opposed the idea of keeping chickens. 
Mayor Brandt noted some surrounding communities that have allowed 
this type of activity are being asked for additional pet allowances.  

 
 Trustee Harms Muth stated she was not in favor of chicken coops in R2 

& R3 zoning locations. Trustee Harms Muth stated she has heard from 
many other residents who are not in favor of the chicken coops within 
residential areas.  

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson continued his 

presentation with information related to beekeeping and Zoning Board 
consensus as it relates to beekeeping.  
 
Assistant Village Manager/CED Director provided additional information 
on backyard chickens including pilot program parameters, coop 

22



Page 3 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

requirements, nuisance restrictions, property values impact, health 
considerations, and possible next steps.  

 
 Trustee Raizin asked why staff made the recommendation for a coop 

to be 10’ from the principal structure when sheds currently are 
required to be 5’ from the principal structure. Assistant Village 
Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated the nature of the use 
prompted more of a setback away from the home.  

 
 Trustee Leider stated, if the Village decides to pursue this, putting 

guidelines in the code for taking down an inactive coop would be 
needed.  

 
 Trustee Grujanac stated the Village Board took nearly two years to 

work through changes to accessory structure regulations. She 
expressed her opinion this review was detailed and thorough and 
expressed concern about changes to the existing regulations. Trustee 
Grujanac stated if the Village is going to pursue permitting chickens 
with a setback different than current regulations, all other accessory 
structures would need to be reevaluated since a chicken coop has 
approximately the same dimensions as a shed.   

 
 Trustee Hancock expressed his opinion there has not be a significant 

push from residents to permit keeping chickens in residential areas. He 
stated there should be a certain number of residents that want to 
allow this in the code in order for the Village Board to consider a 
change to the code. Trustee Hancock expressed his opinion it appears 
the consensus of the Village Board is not to permit keeping chickens in 
residential areas, and asked what the Village will do about the people 
who already have chickens.  

 
 The consensus of the Board was to not pursue allowing chickens in the 

Village.  
 
 The discussion regarding beekeeping ensued. Trustee Raizin asked if 

there is a limit to how many bee hives that can be maintained at the 
Lincolnshire Marriott. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
Gilbertson stated he did not think this was expressed in the language 
of the proposed ordinance, but according to the General Manager of 
the Marriott, they would not have more than 12 at any given time. 
Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson noted a provision 
regarding the maximum number of hives permissible would be added 
to the code.  

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated the code 

would remain the same for accessory structures. Trustee Leider asked 
if the Board had any interest in considering lowering the accessory 
structures permitted cap from two to one. There was no interest in 
changing the code at this time.  

 

23



Page 4 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item, less the 
allowance of residential chicken keeping, on the Consent Agenda for 
approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

2.2 Finance and Administration 
2.21 Consideration of Annual Police Pension Fund Report (Village of 

Lincolnshire Police Pension Fund) 
 
 Treasurer/Finance Director Peterson thanked Mr. Steve Lee, President 

of the Police Pension Fund and provided a brief summary of the annual 
Police Pension Fund Report and funding policy.  

 
 Mr. Lee noted the Police Pension Board is created under the Illinois 

Pension Code and run differently from the other Advisory Boards. Mr. 
Lee thanked the Village Board for their ongoing support of the fund.  

 
 Mr. Lee provided a presentation regarding the Police Pension Fund 

including annual actuarial process, 2019 highlights, summary of 2020 
actuarial valuation, financial condition indicators, recommended versus 
actual contribution, trend in participants and payroll, benefit payments 
vs. contributions, 10-year projections, projected funding policy 
contribution, projected financial condition indicators, funded status of 
Lincolnshire versus other downstate police pension plans. 

 
 Trustee Hancock asked Mr. Lee if he foresaw any significant changes 

to the investment policy in the next few years as a result of pension 
consolidation at the state level. Mr. Lee stated consolidation should 
permit the Lincolnshire funds to generate a better return because the 
state will be less restrictive on what they invest in due to the size of 
the consolidated fund compared to Lincolnshire’s smaller fund. A 
discussion regarding consolidation of police pension funds into a state 
system and the potential for higher rates of return followed.  

 
 Mr. Lee noted the Police Pension Board requests $1,078,136 in 

contributions for 2021. 
 

 It was the consensus of the Board to discuss this request during 
Special Committee of the Whole Budget Workshop Meetings. 

 
2.22 Consideration of Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement 

with the Northfield Township Technology Consortium for 
Internet Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson provided a 

summary of a proposed Intergovernmental Agreement with the 
Northfield Township Technology Consortium for internet services due 
to challenges with Comcast internet services. There is a need for 
increased bandwidth which the Northfield Township Technology 
Consortium can provide.  

 

24



Page 5 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

 Trustee Leider noted the Village currently has onsite data storage, and 
asked if sometime in the future we decide to change that, would this 
service allow for the Village to modify this approach. Assistant Village 
Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated the agreement would allow for 
this type of modifications.  

 
 Trustee Pantelis asked what the difference in price was for the 

proposed service compared to Comcast. Assistant Village 
Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated the price difference is roughly 
$1,100 per year. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson 
noted the internet speed would be 25 – 50 times faster than what the 
Village currently receives.  

 
 Village Manager Burke noted one of the biggest problems the Village 

has is with the data storage being onsite and the backup at Public 
Works. There is currently not enough bandwidth to do as robust 
backups as staff deems necessary. The volume of data the village has 
is growing year after year, so the speed is needed to accommodate 
regular backups. Increased speed would also enable staff to consider 
moving to a cloud-based service at some point in the future.   

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.  
 
2.23 Consideration of Requests from Citizens and Village 

Organizations Regarding Proposed Fiscal Year 2021 Budget 
(Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Village Manager Burke provided a summary of requests from Citizens 

and Village Organizations regarding proposed fiscal year 2021 budget. 
Staff has not received any formal requests from the organizations 
related to the 2021 budget. There has been some conversations staff 
has had with residents regarding ongoing drainage problems which will 
be further discussed in the budget workshops along with prioritization 
of drainage projects brought about by the Village-wide drainage study. 
Village Manager Burke noted staff is working with the Buffalo Grove 
Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce as they are having some financial 
challenges and have requested some type of stipend or contribution 
from both Lincolnshire and Buffalo Grove. Both communities are 
working through their request but need to be further vetted before this 
can be brought back to the Board. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to discuss further if necessary 
during Special Committee of the Whole Budget Workshop Meetings. 

 
2.24 Consideration and Discussion of Proposed Goals for Fiscal Year 

2021 (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
 Village Manager Burke provided proposed goals for fiscal year 2021 for 

feedback from the Board. Due to the pandemic, a number of the 

25



Page 6 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

projects have been carried over from this year to next.  
 
 It was the consensus of the Board to discuss the proposed 2021 goals 

during Special Committee of the Whole Budget Workshop Meetings. 
 

2.3 Public Works 
2.31 Consideration of Acceptance of Public Improvements for 

Camberley Club Subdivision (Pulte Homes) 
 
 Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 

summary of the request for acceptance of public improvements for 
Camberley Club Subdivision. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 
2.32 Consideration of Acceptance of Public Improvements for 

Lincolnshire Trails (MI Homes) 
 
 Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 

summary of the request for acceptance of public improvements for 
Lincolnshire Trails.  

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
   

2.4 Public Safety  
2.41 Consideration of Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement 

Between the State of Illinois, Illinois Department of 
Transportation (IDOT) and Village of Lincolnshire for Sustained 
Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant for Federal Fiscal 
Year 2021 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Chief of Police Leonas provided a summary of an Intergovernmental 

Agreement between the State of Illinois, Illinois Department of 
Transportation (IDOT) and Village of Lincolnshire for Sustained Traffic 
Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant for Federal fiscal year 2021.  

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

2.5 Parks and Recreation 
 

2.6 Judiciary and Personnel 
  
3.0 UNFINISHED BUSINES 
 3.1 Rescheduled Spring Clean-Up 
 

Village Manager Burke noted as a follow up from the Regular Village Board 
Meeting related to the rescheduled spring clean-up. This information has been 

26



Page 7 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

shared in the monthly utility bills but staff will look into some other methods 
to try to get the word out.  

 
4.0  NEW BUSINESS   
  4.1 Highway Noise 
 

Trustee Hancock stated he has received some concerns from residents 
regarding noise from Illinois Tollway 94. Trustee Hancock asked if the Village 
could research possible sound walls in the future.  
 
Mayor Brandt stated this was requested when North Park was developed, and 
the Village was not successful in their request. Mayor Brandt stated there 
might be some validity in requesting this again.   
 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated he knows the 
process with the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) and could walk 
the Board through it. Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich 
stated once IDOT does an improvement and widens the pavement closer to a 
strip of residential properties, they do an analysis on increased noise levels to 
see if noise barriers are needed. Assistant Public Works Director/Village 
Engineer Dittrich stated he is uncertain as to the process for addressing 
existing pavement areas need for sound barrier, but would look into this and 
report back.  
 
Village Manager Burke stated some of the work that was done in the past with 
North Park may be in the files, so staff could go through what we currently 
have to supplement the report. Mayor Brandt noted her memory was that 
there was not enough residential uses in close proximity to the tollway at the 
time to warrant the noise barrier. Mayor Brandt suggested reaching out to 
State Representative Didech to question why other areas along there have it 
but the Lincolnshire area does not.  
 
Trustee Raizin asked if the increased speed limit on the tollway could have 
added to the sound. Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer noted 
the speed does not typically impact the sound; it is the pavement composition 
and proximity of homes to the roadway.  
 

4.2 The St. James Place Project 
 
 Trustee Hancock asked if there has been any update from the developer on 

The St. James Place project.  
 
 Village Manager Burke noted the only update staff has is that they have been 

holding off on their architectural design until they see what updates need to 
be done regarding hygiene and health as a result of the pandemic. They do 
have until the first meeting in March of 2021 to have their final planned unit 
development (PUD) approved. Staff will reach out to see if there is any new 
information.  

 
4.3 Coal Tar Sealants on Driveways  

27



Page 8 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
September 14, 2020 
 
 
 

 
 Village Manager Burke noted he had received some questions on the use of 

coal tar sealants on driveways and staff will report back to the Board 
regarding ordinances neighboring communities have regarding this use.  

 
4.4 Florsheim Property 

  
Village Manager Burke noted an email went out the Board regarding the 
Florsheim estate. The property is still being marketed for sale. The attorney 
from the estate is working on a possible land transaction that may come to be 
in the next few weeks, but this is all staff knows at this time.  
 

4.5 Rosie’s Taco and Tequila Bar 
 
 Mayor Brandt noted Rosie’s Taco and Tequila Bar is now open for lunch and 

will be open for brunch. They had approached staff and the Mayor at the 
ribbon cutting for the desire to install heated tables and other improvements.  

 
4.6 Lincolnshire Marriott 
 
 Mayor Brandt noted the Lincolnshire Marriott is currently having concerts 

outside and converted the theater to provide for training sessions. They also 
have virtual learning labs for children to go in to learn.  

 
5.0  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
6.0  ADJOURNMENT 

 
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the motion to adjourn. 
Upon a voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt 
declared the meeting adjourned at 8:20 p.m. 

 
 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 
 
Barbara Mastandrea 

 Village Clerk 

28



 

September 29, 2020 
Regular Village Board 

7.3 

 

 
September 29, 2020 – Regular Village Board – 7.3 – Staff Memo – Page 1 of 2 

ITEM SUMMARY 

Reviewing Body / Meeting Date: Regular Village Board – September 29, 2020 

Subject:  Beekeeping on Nonresidential Property and Residential 
Seasonal/Accessory Structures  

Action Requested 
(Address – Petitioner): 

Approval of an Ordinance Amending the Lincolnshire Village Code 
Title 6 (Zoning), Chapters 2 (Zoning Definitions), Chapter 3 
(General Zoning Regulations); and Title 11 (Misdemeanors), 
Chapter 13 (Animals) to Define and Regulate Certain Accessory 
Structures and Uses 

Prepared By: Ben Gilbertson – Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Economic Development Director 

Staff Recommendation: Approval of the ordinance. 

Meeting History: Committee of the Whole – January 27, 2020 
Committee of the Whole – February 10, 2020 
Zoning Board – March 10, 2020 
Zoning Board – August 11, 2020 
Committee of the Whole – September 14, 2020 

Tentative Meeting Schedule: N/A 

Reports and Documents 
Attached: 

1) Redlined draft ordinance and findings of fact prepared by the 
Village Attorney and staff 

2) Final ordinance and findings of fact 

 
Background 
At the September 14, 2020, Committee of the Whole meeting, staff presented proposed regulations to:  
 
1) Prohibit hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures.  
2) Allow the Marriott Resort to maintain several beehives on its property.  
3) Regulate a potential backyard chicken pilot program. 
 
It was the consensus of the Village Board (“Board”) to proceed with an ordinance to prohibit temporary 
season-extending growing structures and allow the Marriott Resort to continue its practice of beekeeping. 
Based on feedback from the Village Board and Marriott representatives, staff has amended the ordinance 
originally presented to include a cap of 12 beehives for the Marriott Property.  
 
The Board also agreed to withdraw proposed regulations for a backyard chicken keeping pilot program, 
thereby affirming the current prohibition against keeping chickens outside the F1 farming district (no 
properties are currently zoned F1). Additionally, the Board agreed to maintain current regulations for 
accessory structures in terms of the maximum number (two) and exceptions (no two similar accessory 
structures are permitted except for play structures). 
 
Lastly, staff plan to bring back proposed native landscaping and artificial turf regulations as initially 
presented during the January 27 and February 10, 2020, Committee of the Whole meetings by the end of 
October 2020. These items were presented as part of the broader urban agriculture project in early 2020. 
 
 
 

29

https://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video?format=raw&task=download&fid=2466
https://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video?format=raw&task=download&fid=2340
https://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video?format=raw&task=download&fid=2363
https://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video?format=raw&task=download&fid=2485
https://www.lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video?format=raw&task=download&fid=2505


 

September 29, 2020 
Regular Village Board 

7.3 

 

 
September 29, 2020 – Regular Village Board – 7.3 – Staff Memo – Page 2 of 2 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the ordinance. 
 
Approval Process 
Village code section 6-14-8 outlines the general application process for text amendment requests. 
Specifically, a preliminary evaluation is required with the Village Board, which occurred on January 27 and 
February 10, 2020. The Zoning Board held a public hearing on March 10, which was continued and closed 
on August 11, 2020. Final consideration and potential approval is within the purview of the Village Board, 
which is scheduled for September 29, 2020. 

30



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE No.  

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 6 (ZONING),  
CHAPTERS 2 (ZONING DEFINITIONS) AND 3 (GENERAL ZONING REGULATIONS); AND 

TITLE 11 (MISDEMEANORS), CHAPTER 13 (ANIMALS)  
OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE  

TO DEFINE AND REGULATE CERTAIN ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 
(URBAN AGRICULTURE) 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire (the “Village”) is an Illinois home rule municipal corporation 

organized and operating under the Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees (the "Corporate Authorities") find that certain types 

of urban agriculture can be operated within the Village in a carefully regulated manner which protects the 

health, safety, and welfare of the community; and 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to modify its accessory structure and use regulations to permit 

certain types of urban agriculture subject to careful regulation; and 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to amend its animal control regulations to permit certain types of 

urban agriculture subject to careful regulation; and 

WHEREAS, the Village desires the operation of backyard chicken keeping to be allowed strictly on a 

limited and trial basis during a one-year pilot program and without granting any expectation that such use 

may continue after the expiration of the pilot program; and 

WHEREAS, after due and careful consideration and analysis, the Village has determined that new 

zoning regulations are appropriate to better regulate urban agriculture, and promote the public health, 

safety, and welfare; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities referred certain amendments of Title 6 (Zoning), Chapters 2 

(Zoning Definitions) and 3 (General Zoning Regulations) (the “Text Amendments”) of the Lincolnshire 

Village Code (the “Village Code”) to the Zoning Board for the purpose of regulating the operation of urban 

agricultural uses, attached hereto as Exhibit B; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board opened a public hearing regarding the Text Amendments on March 

10, 2020, and continued the hearing until it was finally adjourned on August 11, 2020, on which date the 

Zoning Board voted in favor of recommending approval of the Text Amendments.  Public hearing notices 

DOCUMENT 1

31



were published in the February 24, 2020, and July 25, 2020, editions of the Daily Herald, respectively. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule powers, as follows: 

SECTION 1. Recitals; Findings. The preamble to this Ordinance expresses the Village’s purpose 

and intent for enacting this amendment to the Village Code and it is the intent of the Mayor and Board of 

Trustees for this Ordinance to be liberally construed to most effectively accomplish the purposes described 

above.  The Corporate Authorities also hereby adopt the findings of fact attached hereto as Exhibit A in 

support of the amendments enacted by this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2. Text Amendments. 

A. Title 6 (Zoning), Chapters 2 (Zoning Definitions)  of the Village Code is hereby amended by

revising the definition of Seasonal Structures as described below, where changes are shown as additions 

described with double underlines: 

STRUCTURE, SEASONAL An Accessory Structure located on residential property used for 
temporary seasonal use, including but not limited to, shade 
structures, and temporary ice rinks. This definition does not include 
hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending 
growing structures. 

B. Section 5 (Accessory Structures and Uses) and Section 6 (Temporary Structures and Uses) of

Title 6 (Zoning), Chapter 3 (General Zoning Regulations) of the Village Code are hereby amended in the 

manner described in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated as though fully recited herein. The changes 

are shown as additions described with double underlines and deletions described with strikeouts. Language 

which is omitted from Exhibit B is not intended to be changed. 

SECTION 3.  Animal Control.  Section 11-13-4 (Keeping Or Harboring Animals; Number 

Restricted) of the Village Code is hereby amended in the manner described below.  The changes are shown as 

additions described with double underlines and deletions described with strikeouts. 

11-13-4: KEEPING OR HARBORING ANIMALS; NUMBER RESTRICTED: 

A. It shall be unlawful to maintain any stable, veterinary hospital, kennel, dove-cote or other place
for the keeping or harboring of any bees, cattle, horses, goats, pigs, chickens, geese, ducks,
pigeons, rabbits or similar animals or fowl, or to keep or harbor any such animals or fowl upon
any residential lot within the Village, except as otherwise expressly permitted within
paragraphsSection 11-13-4-C or 11-13-4-D of the Lincolnshire Village Code.

B. It shall be unlawful to keep or harbor in excess of three (3) dogs or three (3) cats or any
combination of such animals in excess of a total of three (3) upon any residential lot within the

DOCUMENT 1

32



 
Village.  

 
C. Beekeeping on Non-Residential Property: The practice of beekeeping shall be permitted on non-

residential property as outlined in Section 6-3-5 (Accessory Structures and Uses) of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code. Beekeeping shall be allowed exclusively for honey, wax, pollen, and 
similar products, with such products sold on premise or in partnership with other businesses. 
Licensing through the Illinois Department of Agriculture is also required. 

 
D. Chicken Keeping on Residential Property – Pilot Program: The practice of chicken keeping shall 
be permitted on single-family residential properties for a period of one year, commencing upon the effective 
date of Ordinance No. XX-XXXX-XXX. Chicken keeping and chicken coops shall be further regulated by 
Section 6-3-5 (Accessory Structures and Uses) of the Lincolnshire Village Code. After one year of the program 
being in effect, the Village Board shall reevaluate the merits of the program before taking formal action to 
terminate, continue, modify, or make permanent the program. The Village Manager or his/her designee shall 
modify pilot program parameters as needed to ensure public health, safety, and welfare. Parameters of the pilot 
program are as follows: 
 
Purpose: Accessory chicken permits are established to provide a mechanism for the lawful keeping of 
chickens that are uncommon in residential areas and that, if kept improperly, would injure the public health, 
safety, and welfare. No permit shall be construed as a vested right that would prevent the modification or 
termination of this program or to otherwise keep the permitted chickens except in conformance with the 
requirements set forth herein. 
Permits: The Village shall not issue more than five (5) permits for backyard chicken keeping at any time 
issued to qualified applicants on a first come, first served basis. Permits are valid for a period of up to one (1) 
year. Applicants must provide a sketch of the proposed chicken coop location on a plat of survey or map. 
Applicants must re-apply annually, should the program be extended beyond the one year timeframe. If a 
permit is not renewed within 30 days prior to expiration, property owners must remove all chickens and 
related facilities/equipment. Applicants are required to pay a fee upon first applying, as well as for each 
subsequent renewal, as set forth in Section 1-15 of the Lincolnshire Village Code.  
State Registration: Applicants must also register with the Illinois Department of Agriculture Livestock 
Premises Database. 
Notification: Applicants must provide a copy of their Village of Lincolnshire permit application to abutting 
property owners. 
Inspection: The Village shall inspect the property prior to permit issuance or any construction of a coop 
commences. The applicant or permittee shall permit such inspection at reasonable times and upon reasonable 
notice. Said consent to inspect is a condition of any accessory animal permit, and refusal shall be cause for 
rejection of an application or revocation of an accessory chicken permit. The Village may perform an inspection 
of the property of an applicant or permittee for any of the following reasons: 
The inspection is a condition of renewal of an accessory animal permit; 
The applicant or permittee has received a citation for violation of any provision of this ordinance or the 
Lincolnshire Village Code related to chicken keeping within the preceding 12 months; 
The Village receives a documented complaint concerning the conditions of the permit, including the chickens 
permitted or the manner in which the chickens are kept; or 
The Village has probable cause to believe a violation of this ordinance of the Lincolnshire Village Code related 
to chicken keeping exists. 
Revocation: Any permit issued under the provisions of this chapter may be revoked by the Village for a 
violation of any condition imposed upon a permit, any provision hereof, or upon satisfactory proof that the 
permitted activity was conducted in a manner detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare. Such 
renovation may be in addition to the imposition of a fine or other penalty for violation of any provision of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code and shall be no defense to a prosecution for such violation.  Any administrative order 
revoking a permit shall be in writing and delivered to the owner by first class mail or personal service. 
Appeal: In the event any applicant or permittee shall be refused a permit, have their permit revoked, or shall 
feel otherwise aggrieved, he or she shall have the right to appeal the decision to the Board of Trustees within 
seven (7) days from the date of the decision.The Board shall have the power to affirm, reverse or otherwise 
modify the decision. Such appeal shall be in writing, addressed to the Mayor and Board of Trustees setting 
forth in detail the grounds of such appeal. Any appeal shall be decided within thirty (30) days from the date of 

DOCUMENT 1

33



 
the decision being appealed and the result of the appeal will be reduced to writing and delivered to the 
appellant by first class mail or personal delivery. 
Chicken Enclosure: Coops must be predator and extreme-weather proof. Coops must be sanitary at all 
times. Material storage or storage of any kind other than chickens within a coop is prohibited. 
Rodent Protection: Chicken feed shall be kept in a rodent-proof container. 
Sanitation: Nuisances regarding odor, litter, droppings, other waste, and the like are prohibited 
Limit and Type of Chickens: Property owners may keep no less than two (2) and no more than four (4) 
hens on their property. Roosters are prohibited. 
Confinement: Hens must be confined to the coop or the enclosed run at all times. 
Prohibited Activities: The sale of eggs and slaughtering of chickens is prohibited. 
 

SECTION 4. Comprehensive Fee Schedule.  Title 1, Chapter 15 of the Village Code 

(Comprehensive Fee Schedule) is hereby amended by adding the following fees in Section 1-15-11: 

1-15-11:  MISDEMEANORS (TITLE 11) 
TYPE AMOUNT OF FEE CODE SECTION 
Residential Chicken Keeping Permit Fee $75.00 11-13-4-D 

 

SECTION 4. Severability. In the event any provision or application of the Village Code enacted by 

this Ordinance is found to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the intent of the Village Board that all other 

applications and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect to the extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective following its adoption and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

SO ORDAINED this   day of  , 2020, at Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois. 

AYES: 
 

NAYS: 
 

ABSENT: 
 

APPROVED: 
 
              

Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 
 
Published by me in pamphlet form 
 
 
this     day of       , 20   . 
 
  

DOCUMENT 1

34



 
EXHIBIT A 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
  

DOCUMENT 1

35



 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
On An Application for a Text Amendment regarding Accessory Structures (Hoop Houses) 

 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Trustees: 
 
We transmit for your consideration a favorable recommendation vote by the Zoning Board of the Village of 
Lincolnshire to recommend approval of the application for a text amendment related to accessory structures 
including hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures. The text 
amendment would prohibit these types of structures as accessory structures or seasonal structures. 

Following due notice, as required by the Title 6 (Zoning) of the Lincolnshire Village Code, the Zoning Board 
held a public hearing on March 10, 2020, in the Village Hall, and continued the public hearing virtually on 
August 11, 2020. Upon having reviewed materials submitted by staff and a staff memorandum with 
attachments prepared by the Community & Economic Development Department, and having heard Village 
staff comments and the sworn testimony of all interested parties desiring to be heard at the public hearing, the 
Zoning Board deliberated and reached the following Findings of Fact: 
 
Standards 
 
1. The request for an amendment shall serve the purpose of promoting the public health, 

safety, and general welfare because:  
 
Hoop houses, high tunnels, and other similar season-extending growing structures are intended to be 
temporary and mobile, causing them to be more easily damaged and poorly maintained, resulting in negative 
aesthetic impacts on the community; and 
 
Damaged seasonal structures which fail to provide security against animals tend to promote an increase of 
nuisance animals, including skunks, foxes, squirrels, rats and deer, which damage private property and local 
landscaping. 
 
2. The request for an amendment shall conserve the value of property throughout the 

community because: 
 
The mitigation of any negative secondary effects from hoop houses, high tunnels, and other similar temporary 
season-extending growing structures will preserve the value of property throughout the community.  
 
3. The request for an amendment shall lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets and 

highways because: 
 
The amendment will not affect the amount of vehicle trips on public streets. 
 
Chair Brian Bichkoff and Members of the Zoning Board 
August 11, 2020 
  

DOCUMENT 1

36



 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
On An Application for a Text Amendment regarding Accessory Uses & Structures (Beekeeping) 

 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Trustees: 
 
We transmit for your consideration a favorable recommendation vote by the Zoning Board of the Village of 
Lincolnshire to recommend approval of the application for a text amendment related to accessory structures 
and uses including beekeeping. The text amendment would allow beekeeping as a special accessory use on 
properties located within the B zoning districts comprised of 100 acres or more. 

Following due notice, as required by the Title 6 (Zoning) of the Lincolnshire Village Code, the Zoning Board 
held a public hearing on March 10, 2020, in the Village Hall, and continued the public hearing virtually on 
August 11, 2020. Upon having reviewed materials submitted by staff and a staff memorandum with 
attachments prepared by the Community & Economic Development Department, and having heard Village 
staff comments and the sworn testimony of all interested parties desiring to be heard at the public hearing, the 
Zoning Board deliberated and reached the following Findings of Fact: 
 
Standards 
 
1. The request for an amendment shall serve the purpose of promoting the public health, 

safety, and general welfare because:  
 
Beekeeping is a sustainable agricultural use which promotes community pollination, food supplies, and fosters 
bee populations outside of the commercial beekeeping industry. 
 
2. The request for an amendment shall conserve the value of property throughout the 

community because: 
 
Beekeeping provides a safe and effective alternative revenue source for large scale properties capable of 
mitigating the secondary effects on neighboring uses, promoting the continued occupancy and operation of 
such property. 
 
3. The request for an amendment shall lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets and 

highways because: 
 
Local food production reduces reliance on shipping, thereby eliminating trips on public streets and highways 
and reducing congestion. 
 
Chair Brian Bichkoff and Members of the Zoning Board 
August 11, 2020 
 
  

DOCUMENT 1

37



 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
On An Application for a Text Amendment regarding Accessory Uses & Structures  

(Residential Chicken Keeping) 
 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Trustees: 
 
We transmit for your consideration a passed / failed vote by the Zoning Board of the Village of Lincolnshire to 
recommend approval of the application for a text amendment related to accessory structures and uses including 
chicken keeping. The text amendment would allow chicken keeping as an accessory use on residential properties 
located within the R1, R2, R2A, and R3 zoning districts. 

Following due notice, as required by Title 6 (Zoning) of the Lincolnshire Village Code, the Zoning Board held a 
public hearing on March 10, 2020, in the Village Hall, and continued the public hearing virtually on August 11, 
2020. Upon having reviewed materials submitted by staff and a staff memorandum with attachments prepared 
by the Community & Economic Development Department, and having heard Village staff comments and the 
sworn testimony of all interested parties desiring to be heard at the public hearing, the Zoning Board 
deliberated and reached the following Findings of Fact: 
 
Standards 
 
1. The request for an amendment shall serve the purpose of promoting the public health, safety, 

and general welfare. 
 
Permitting the keeping of chickens on residential properties will reduce the demand for eggs sold at retail, 
which will reduce the need for transporting eggs at commercial farms. Reducing the transportation of eggs 
raised at commercial farms will reduce the community’s reliance on fossil fuels and reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions, resulting in greater public health and welfare.  
 
2. The request for an amendment shall conserve the value of property throughout the 

community. 
 
The regulations described in the text amendment are designed to ensure that, with strict compliance with such 
regulations, the side effects arising from keeping of chickens on residential properties are kept solely on the 
property where the chickens are raised, and do not result in a nuisance for neighboring properties. As a result, 
the text amendment conserves property values throughout the community. 
 
3. The request for an amendment shall lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets and 

highways. 
 
Permitting the keeping of chickens on residential properties will reduce the demand for eggs sold at retail, 
which will reduce the need for transporting eggs at commercial farms. Reducing the transportation of eggs 
raised at commercial farms will lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets and highways. 
 
Chair Brian Bichkoff and Members of the Zoning Board 
August 11, 2020 
 

 
 
 
  

DOCUMENT 1

38



 
EXHIBIT B 

TEXT AMENDMENTS 
 
6-2-2:  DEFINITIONS 

The following words and terms, wherever they occur in this Zoning Code shall be defined as 
follows: 
 

*  *  * 
 
STRUCTURE, SEASONAL An Accessory Structure located on residential property used for 

temporary seasonal use, including but not limited to, shade structures, 
and temporary ice rinks. This definition does not include hoop houses, 
high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing 
structures. 
 
*  *  * 

 
6-3-5:  ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 

No accessory structure or use shall be established, erected, altered or moved onto a lot unless it is 
specifically conforms to the requirements of this Section. 

 
*  *  * 

 
B. Specific Requirements: The following Accessory Structures and Uses shall be permitted subject 

to the additional specific regulations set forth below:  
 

*  *  * 
  

ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 6-3-5(B) P = Permitted 
S = Special Use 

Beekeeping and Beehives R1 R2 R2A R3 R4 R5 B E O/I M 
      S    

• The practice of beekeeping shall be governed by Section 11-13-4-C. 
• Permitted on properties measuring 100 acres or greater. 
• Hives may be located within the required side and rear yard setbacks, provided they are no closer than ten feet (10’) from the 

side and rear property lines. Hives shall not be located within ten feet (10’) of any sidewalk, path, or residence. 
• The maximum number of hives shall not exceed 12 at any time. 

 
*  *  * 

 
Greenhouse R1 R2 R2A R3 R4 R5 B E O/I M 

P P P P P P P P P P 
• At least two walls and the roof of the structure must be glass or similar transparent materials. 
• Storage of materials other than plants shall not be visible from adjacent properties and public ways. 
• Shall not include hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures. 

   
*  *  * 

 
 
6-3-6:  TEMPORARY STRUCTURES AND USES 

No temporary structure or use shall be established or erected on a lot unless it is specifically 
permitted by the requirements of this Section. 

 
*  *  * 

 
B. Specific Requirements: The following Temporary Structures and Uses shall be permitted and are 

further subject to the specific regulations set forth below:  
 

DOCUMENT 1

39



 
TEMPORARY STRUCTURES AND USES  
6-3-6(B) 

TUP = Temporary Use Permit Required 
P = Permitted (No Permit Required) 
BP = Building Permit Required 

 
*  *  * 

 

Seasonal Structure R1 R2 R2A R3 R4 R5 B E O/I M 
P P P P P      

• Only one (1) Seasonal Structure shall be permitted at any one time. 
• Shall be permitted for a portion of the year for seasonal use only, and shall not remain for an uninterrupted period longer than 

six (6) months within any consecutive twelve (12) month period.  
• Shall not include a permanent foundation. 
• Shall not exceed a height of fifteen feet (15’) from the established grade. 
• Shall have a maximum floor area ratio no greater than 10% of the gross square feet of the Principal Structure on the lot. 
• Storage of materials is prohibited. 
• Installation of natural gas, water supply or sanitary sewer service, plumbing fixtures or similar utilities is prohibited. 
• May be located within the required side and rear yard setbacks, provided they are no closer than ten feet (10’) from the side and 

rear property lines. 
• Shall not include hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures. 

 
 

 

DOCUMENT 1

40



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE No.  

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 6 (ZONING),  
CHAPTERS 2 (ZONING DEFINITIONS) AND 3 (GENERAL ZONING REGULATIONS); AND 

TITLE 11 (MISDEMEANORS), CHAPTER 13 (ANIMALS)  
OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE  

TO DEFINE AND REGULATE CERTAIN ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 
(URBAN AGRICULTURE) 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire (the “Village”) is an Illinois home rule municipal corporation 

organized and operating under the Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees (the "Corporate Authorities") find that certain types 

of urban agriculture can be operated within the Village in a carefully regulated manner which protects the 

health, safety, and welfare of the community; and 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to modify its accessory structure and use regulations to permit 

certain types of urban agriculture subject to careful regulation; and 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to amend its animal control regulations to permit certain types of 

urban agriculture subject to careful regulation; and 

WHEREAS, after due and careful consideration and analysis, the Village has determined that new 

zoning regulations are appropriate to better regulate urban agriculture, and promote the public health, 

safety, and welfare; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities referred certain amendments of Title 6 (Zoning), Chapters 2 

(Zoning Definitions) and 3 (General Zoning Regulations) (the “Text Amendments”) of the Lincolnshire 

Village Code (the “Village Code”) to the Zoning Board for the purpose of regulating the operation of urban 

agricultural uses, attached hereto as Exhibit B; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Board opened a public hearing regarding the Text Amendments on March 

10, 2020, and continued the hearing until it was finally adjourned on August 11, 2020, on which date the 

Zoning Board voted in favor of recommending approval of the Text Amendments.  Public hearing notices 

were published in the February 24, 2020, and July 25, 2020, editions of the Daily Herald, respectively. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule powers, as follows: 

DOCUMENT 2

41



 
SECTION 1. Recitals; Findings. The preamble to this Ordinance expresses the Village’s purpose 

and intent for enacting this amendment to the Village Code and it is the intent of the Mayor and Board of 

Trustees for this Ordinance to be liberally construed to most effectively accomplish the purposes described 

above.  The Corporate Authorities also hereby adopt the findings of fact attached hereto as Exhibit A in 

support of the amendments enacted by this Ordinance. 

SECTION 2. Text Amendments.  

A. Title 6 (Zoning), Chapters 2 (Zoning Definitions)  of the Village Code is hereby amended by 

revising the definition of Seasonal Structures as described below, where changes are shown as additions 

described with double underlines: 

STRUCTURE, SEASONAL An Accessory Structure located on residential property used for 
temporary seasonal use, including but not limited to, shade 
structures, and temporary ice rinks. This definition does not include 
hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending 
growing structures. 

 
B. Section 5 (Accessory Structures and Uses) and Section 6 (Temporary Structures and Uses) of 

Title 6 (Zoning), Chapter 3 (General Zoning Regulations) of the Village Code are hereby amended in the 

manner described in Exhibit B, attached hereto and incorporated as though fully recited herein. The changes 

are shown as additions described with double underlines and deletions described with strikeouts. Language 

which is omitted from Exhibit B is not intended to be changed. 

SECTION 3.  Animal Control.  Section 11-13-4 (Keeping Or Harboring Animals; Number 

Restricted) of the Village Code is hereby amended in the manner described below.  The changes are shown as 

additions described with double underlines and deletions described with strikeouts. 

11-13-4: KEEPING OR HARBORING ANIMALS; NUMBER RESTRICTED: 
 
A. It shall be unlawful to maintain any stable, veterinary hospital, kennel, dove-cote or other place 

for the keeping or harboring of any bees, cattle, horses, goats, pigs, chickens, geese, ducks, 
pigeons, rabbits or similar animals or fowl, or to keep or harbor any such animals or fowl upon 
any residential lot within the Village, except as otherwise expressly permitted within Section 11-
13-4-C of the Lincolnshire Village Code. 

 
B. It shall be unlawful to keep or harbor in excess of three (3) dogs or three (3) cats or any 

combination of such animals in excess of a total of three (3) upon any residential lot within the 
Village.  

 
C. Beekeeping on Non-Residential Property: The practice of beekeeping shall be permitted on non-

residential property as outlined in Section 6-3-5 (Accessory Structures and Uses) of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code. Beekeeping shall be allowed exclusively for honey, wax, pollen, and 
similar products, with such products sold on premise or in partnership with other businesses. 

DOCUMENT 2

42



 
Licensing through the Illinois Department of Agriculture is also required. 

 
SECTION 4. Severability. In the event any provision or application of the Village Code enacted by 

this Ordinance is found to be invalid or unenforceable, it is the intent of the Village Board that all other 

applications and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect to the extent permitted by law. 

SECTION 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective following its adoption and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

SO ORDAINED this   day of  , 2020, at Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois. 

AYES: 
 

NAYS: 
 

ABSENT: 
 

APPROVED: 
 
              

Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 
 
Published by me in pamphlet form 
 
 
this     day of       , 20   . 
 
  

DOCUMENT 2

43



 
EXHIBIT A 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
  

DOCUMENT 2

44



 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
On An Application for a Text Amendment regarding Accessory Structures (Hoop Houses) 

 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Trustees: 
 
We transmit for your consideration a favorable recommendation vote by the Zoning Board of the Village of 
Lincolnshire to recommend approval of the application for a text amendment related to accessory structures 
including hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures. The text 
amendment would prohibit these types of structures as accessory structures or seasonal structures. 

Following due notice, as required by the Title 6 (Zoning) of the Lincolnshire Village Code, the Zoning Board 
held a public hearing on March 10, 2020, in the Village Hall, and continued the public hearing virtually on 
August 11, 2020. Upon having reviewed materials submitted by staff and a staff memorandum with 
attachments prepared by the Community & Economic Development Department, and having heard Village 
staff comments and the sworn testimony of all interested parties desiring to be heard at the public hearing, the 
Zoning Board deliberated and reached the following Findings of Fact: 
 
Standards 
 
1. The request for an amendment shall serve the purpose of promoting the public health, 

safety, and general welfare because:  
 
Hoop houses, high tunnels, and other similar season-extending growing structures are intended to be 
temporary and mobile, causing them to be more easily damaged and poorly maintained, resulting in negative 
aesthetic impacts on the community; and 
 
Damaged seasonal structures which fail to provide security against animals tend to promote an increase of 
nuisance animals, including skunks, foxes, squirrels, rats and deer, which damage private property and local 
landscaping. 
 
2. The request for an amendment shall conserve the value of property throughout the 

community because: 
 
The mitigation of any negative secondary effects from hoop houses, high tunnels, and other similar temporary 
season-extending growing structures will preserve the value of property throughout the community.  
 
3. The request for an amendment shall lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets and 

highways because: 
 
The amendment will not affect the amount of vehicle trips on public streets. 
 
Chair Brian Bichkoff and Members of the Zoning Board 
August 11, 2020 
  

DOCUMENT 2

45



 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
On An Application for a Text Amendment regarding Accessory Uses & Structures (Beekeeping) 

 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
Honorable Mayor and Board of Trustees: 
 
We transmit for your consideration a favorable recommendation vote by the Zoning Board of the Village of 
Lincolnshire to recommend approval of the application for a text amendment related to accessory structures 
and uses including beekeeping. The text amendment would allow beekeeping as a special accessory use on 
properties located within the B zoning districts comprised of 100 acres or more. 

Following due notice, as required by the Title 6 (Zoning) of the Lincolnshire Village Code, the Zoning Board 
held a public hearing on March 10, 2020, in the Village Hall, and continued the public hearing virtually on 
August 11, 2020. Upon having reviewed materials submitted by staff and a staff memorandum with 
attachments prepared by the Community & Economic Development Department, and having heard Village 
staff comments and the sworn testimony of all interested parties desiring to be heard at the public hearing, the 
Zoning Board deliberated and reached the following Findings of Fact: 
 
Standards 
 
1. The request for an amendment shall serve the purpose of promoting the public health, 

safety, and general welfare because:  
 
Beekeeping is a sustainable agricultural use which promotes community pollination, food supplies, and fosters 
bee populations outside of the commercial beekeeping industry. 
 
2. The request for an amendment shall conserve the value of property throughout the 

community because: 
 
Beekeeping provides a safe and effective alternative revenue source for large scale properties capable of 
mitigating the secondary effects on neighboring uses, promoting the continued occupancy and operation of 
such property. 
 
3. The request for an amendment shall lessen or avoid congestion in the public streets and 

highways because: 
 
Local food production reduces reliance on shipping, thereby eliminating trips on public streets and highways 
and reducing congestion. 
 
Chair Brian Bichkoff and Members of the Zoning Board 
August 11, 2020 
 
 

 
 
 
  

DOCUMENT 2

46



 
EXHIBIT B 

TEXT AMENDMENTS 
 
6-2-2:  DEFINITIONS 

The following words and terms, wherever they occur in this Zoning Code shall be defined as 
follows: 
 

*  *  * 
 
STRUCTURE, SEASONAL An Accessory Structure located on residential property used for 

temporary seasonal use, including but not limited to, shade structures, 
and temporary ice rinks. This definition does not include hoop houses, 
high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing 
structures. 
 
*  *  * 

 
6-3-5:  ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 

No accessory structure or use shall be established, erected, altered or moved onto a lot unless it is 
specifically conforms to the requirements of this Section. 

 
*  *  * 

 
B. Specific Requirements: The following Accessory Structures and Uses shall be permitted subject 

to the additional specific regulations set forth below:  
 

*  *  * 
  

ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 6-3-5(B) P = Permitted 
S = Special Use 

Beekeeping and Beehives R1 R2 R2A R3 R4 R5 B E O/I M 
      S    

• The practice of beekeeping shall be governed by Section 11-13-4-C. 
• Permitted on properties measuring 100 acres or greater. 
• Hives may be located within the required side and rear yard setbacks, provided they are no closer than ten feet (10’) from the 

side and rear property lines. Hives shall not be located within ten feet (10’) of any sidewalk, path, or residence. 
• The maximum number of hives shall not exceed 12 at any time. 

 
*  *  * 

 
Greenhouse R1 R2 R2A R3 R4 R5 B E O/I M 

P P P P P P P P P P 
• At least two walls and the roof of the structure must be glass or similar transparent materials. 
• Storage of materials other than plants shall not be visible from adjacent properties and public ways. 
• Shall not include hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures. 

   
*  *  * 

 
 
6-3-6:  TEMPORARY STRUCTURES AND USES 

No temporary structure or use shall be established or erected on a lot unless it is specifically 
permitted by the requirements of this Section. 

 
*  *  * 

 
B. Specific Requirements: The following Temporary Structures and Uses shall be permitted and are 

further subject to the specific regulations set forth below:  
 

DOCUMENT 2

47



 
TEMPORARY STRUCTURES AND USES  
6-3-6(B) 

TUP = Temporary Use Permit Required 
P = Permitted (No Permit Required) 
BP = Building Permit Required 

 
*  *  * 

 

Seasonal Structure R1 R2 R2A R3 R4 R5 B E O/I M 
P P P P P      

• Only one (1) Seasonal Structure shall be permitted at any one time. 
• Shall be permitted for a portion of the year for seasonal use only, and shall not remain for an uninterrupted period longer than 

six (6) months within any consecutive twelve (12) month period.  
• Shall not include a permanent foundation. 
• Shall not exceed a height of fifteen feet (15’) from the established grade. 
• Shall have a maximum floor area ratio no greater than 10% of the gross square feet of the Principal Structure on the lot. 
• Storage of materials is prohibited. 
• Installation of natural gas, water supply or sanitary sewer service, plumbing fixtures or similar utilities is prohibited. 
• May be located within the required side and rear yard setbacks, provided they are no closer than ten feet (10’) from the side and 

rear property lines. 
• Shall not include hoop houses, high tunnels, and similar temporary season-extending growing structures. 

 
 

 

DOCUMENT 2

48



 

September 29, 2020 
Regular Village Board 

8.22 

 

 
September 29, 2020 – Regular Village Board – 8.22 – Staff Memo – Page 1 of 2 

ITEM SUMMARY 

Reviewing Body / Meeting Date: Regular Village Board – September 29, 2020 

Subject :  GovITC – InterDev Master Contract 

Action Requested  
(Address – Petitioner): 

Ratification of a Master Contract between the Government 
Information Technology Consortium (GovITC) and InterDev LLC 
for Information Technology Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 

Prepared By: Brad Burke, Village Manager 

Staff Recommendation: Consideration and Ratification 

Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Actual Amount: N/A 

Level of Service Impact: N/A 

Meeting History: N/A 

Tentative Meeting Schedule: N/A 

Reports / Documents Attached: 1) Master Contract between GovITC and InterDev LLC 

 
Background 
In late 2012, Lincolnshire and several neighboring municipalities began discussing the feasibility of an 
information technologies shared services consortium. The concept of the consortium anticipated a 
reduction of costs and improved services associated with IT services in the long-term through the shared 
use of resources, such as personnel, data center space, leveraged software and hardware acquisition, and 
standardization of hardware and software. Lincolnshire’s consideration of this shared service concept was 
raised based upon the success of the Geographic Information Systems Consortium of which Lincolnshire 
has been a member since inception.  
 
Prior to formalizing the creation of the GovIT Consortium (“GovITC”), the group retained a technology 
consulting firm, Excipio, to complete a study of the IT infrastructure of the participating communities as 
well as the feasibility of a shared services environment. Excipio identified significant opportunities 
including: projected long term cost reductions of $1.4 million spread among the participating 
municipalities; improved service delivery; and decreased risk in a shared services environment. Several 
firms responded to a subsequent request for proposal for the actual provision of IT services. Three firms 
were interviewed by the participating municipalities in December 2013. It was the unanimous consensus 
of the participating communities that InterDev, LLC (“InterDev”) of Atlanta, Georgia was the best 
candidate for the long-term vision of the consortium. 
 
In 2014, the GovITC was formed between five neighboring communities (Buffalo Grove, Glenview, 
Kenilworth, Lake Bluff, and Lincolnshire). Two additional members joined the consortium since 2014; 
Oswego and Yorkville. However, Oswego has subsequently left the consortium. The GovITC shares a work 
plan amongst member communities and leverages joint purchasing power in the procurement of 
equipment and services. InterDev has provided service to individual member communities as well as 
implemented a variety of joint projects during this period.  
 
At the time the GovITC was formed, consortium members entered into individual contracts with InterDev. 
Over the past two years, consortium members developed a single master contract including service level 
agreements and response standards to govern IT services. In late 2019, the GovITC solicited proposals for 

49



 

September 29, 2020 
Regular Village Board 

8.22 

 

 
September 29, 2020 – Regular Village Board – 8.22 – Staff Memo – Page 2 of 2 

information technology services, and three vendors responded to the request. Based upon their response 
and knowledge of member communities, IT infrastructure, and services, GovITC members pursued 
negotiating a master contract with InterDev.  
 
The attached master contract engages InterDev to provide services to GovITC member communities for 
an initial term of three years commencing on June 30, 2020. The delay in bringing this matter to the 
Village Board is due to delays in receipt of the final executed master contract. The initial term may be 
extended by successive two year period prior to the expiration of the current term. The contract may be 
terminated at any time upon 120 days’ written notice to the service provider. Ratification of the GovITC 
master contract with InterDev is requested. Since the master contract is held with the consortium, the 
Village Board is not being asked to approve the contract.  
 
A copy of the complete master contract and related exhibits is attached. Staff will be available to respond 
to questions from the Village Board at Tuesday night’s meeting.   
 
Budget Impact 
The current cost for IT services is $66,223 and has been held to this amount since the original individual 
contract was approved in 2014. As a result of the negotiation of the master contract with clearly defined 
service level agreements, the total annual base service costs will be $83,681.28 for all base level services 
required in maintaining the Village’s information technology network, mobile devices, and telephone 
system. For reference, the Village’s total expense related to its participation in the GIS Consortium is 
projected to be $67,386 for Fiscal Year 2021.   
 
Level of Service Impact 
Not applicable. 
 
Approval Process 
Village Board ratification of the GovITC master contract is requested. 
 
Staff Recommendation / Next Steps 
Staff recommends ratification of the GovITC master contract. 

50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



 

September 29, 2020 

Regular Village Board Meeting  

8.31 

 

 
September 29, 2020 – Regular Village Board Meeting – #8.31 – Staff Memo – Page 1 of 2 

ITEM SUMMARY 

Reviewing Body / Meeting Date: Regular Village Board Meeting / September 29, 2020 

Subject:  Resolution to Amend a Recreational Path Easement for 2840 Half 

Day Road & 23437 Old Mill Road 

Action Requested: Approval 

Prepared By: Wally Dittrich, Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer 

Staff Recommendation: Approval 

Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Actual Amount: N/A 

Level of Service Impact: N/A 

Meeting History: 2003 

Tentative Meeting Schedule: September 29, 2020 

Reports / Documents Attached: Resolution 

Amended Easement Agreement 

ALTA Survey 

 

  

 

Request Summary / Project Description 

In the summer of 2003, the Village of Lincolnshire entered into various easement agreements in order to 

facilitate the construction of a bike path on the north side of Half Day Road between Riverwoods Road and 

Westminster Way/Hewitt Drive.  During the course of construction, the path was shifted further north out 

of the limits of the previously agreed to easement.  From staff’s research on the issue, it was relocate to 

avoid some larger trees that were along the roadway that were original to the property.  While those trees 

have since been removed, the path still exists on the property of 2840 Half Day Road & 23437 Old Mill 

Road (also known as the Florsheim property).  There is a pending sale of the property and the prospective 

buyers request cleanup of the matter up before taking ownership.  The revised easement agreement gives 

the Village permission for the path to remain in its current location and extends the original terms of the 

easement agreement to the new easement surrounding the previously constructed path.  At this time, 

staff has only been in communications with the attorneys for the buyer and seller and have not been 

provided any information about any intended future uses of the property.   

  

Budget Impact 

N/A 

 

Level of Service Impact 

None 

 

Approval Process 

Approval at the September 29, 2020 Regular Village Board meeting is desired in order to allow the closing 

of the property to take place as quickly as possible. 

 

 

 

99



 

September 29, 2020 

Regular Village Board Meeting  

8.31 

 

 
September 29, 2020 – Regular Village Board Meeting – #8.31 – Staff Memo – Page 2 of 2 

Staff Recommendation / Next Steps 

The Village Attorney has reviewed and approved the revised easement agreement and staff recommends 

waiver of first reading and approval as the bike path already exists and the Village does not have any 

funds in its 2020 budget to relocate the path back into the original easement.      

100



A
S
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
1
6
0
0
2

R
E

C
O

R
D
E

D
 

O
C
T

O
B
E

R
 
1
7
, 

1
8
7
6

B
R

O
W

N
'S
 
S

U
B

D
I
V
I
S
I
O

N

L
O

T
 
8

PART OF LOT 24

L
O

T
 
2L
O

T
 
3

L
O

T
 
4

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
8

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
2
3

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
5

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
0

N
O

T
 
I
N

C
L

U
D
E

D

OH OH

A
S
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
6
0
9
4
1
2
0

R
E

C
O

R
D
E

D
 

N
O

V
E

M
B
E

R
 
2
0
, 

2
0
0
6

E
A
S
T

O
N
 
S

U
B

D
I
V
I
S
I
O

N

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 
L

O
T
 
7

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
7

Phone: (847) 696-4060  Fax: (847) 696-4065

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

9575 W. Higgins Road,  Suite 700,

JOB NO:

DATE:

FILENAME:

SHEET

OF

REVISIONS:

PURPOSES ONLY
FOR REVIEW

H
A

L
F
 

D
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

L
O

T
 
17

L
O

T
 
9

L
O

T
 
16

PART OF LOT 24

1
/
4
 

O
F
 

S
E

C
T
I
O

N
 
1
3
-
4
3
-
1
1

E
A

S
T
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

T
H

E
 

S
W
 

1
/
4
 

O
F
 

S
E

C
T
I
O

N
 
1
3
-
4
3
-
1
1

W
E
S

T
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

T
H

E
 

S
E
 

N
8
9
°4

1
'0

5
"

W
(M

)

1
3
9
.9

8
'(M

)

S
0
0
°2

7
'2

4
"

W
(M

)

1
0
.0

0
'(M

)
N
8
9
°4

1
'0

5
"

W
(M

)

1
4
3
.3

5
'(M

)

N
4
8
°2

6
'5

9
"

W
(M

)

4
5
.5

1
'(M

)

260.89'(M)

N00°27'24"E(M)

1
8
6
.7

4
'(M

)

N
8
6
°5

1
'5

4
"

E
(M

)
N
3
5
°5

0
'5

9
"

E
(M

)

1
1
6
.5

9
'(M

)

R
O

A
D
 

A
S
 

M
O

N
U

M
E

N
T

E
D

N
O

R
T

H
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

H
A

L
F
 

D
A

Y
 

(A
L
S

O
 

K
N

O
W

N
 

A
S
 

R
O

U
T
E
 
2
2
)

H
E

R
E

T
O

F
O

R
E
 

D
E

D
I
C

A
T

E
D
 

F
O

R
 

P
U

B
L
I
C
 

U
S

E

B
R

O
W

N
'S
 

S
U

B
D
I
V
I
S
I
O

N

S
O

U
T

H
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

1
4
0
'(R

)

E
A

S
T
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
5

229.78'(M)

235.4'(R)

1
7
4
.9

9
'(M

)

1
7
5
.0

0
'(R

)

~
 

O
F
 

H
A

L
F
 

D
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

N00°20'16"W(M)

566.73'(M)

4
.9

8
C

H
(P
) 
(3

2
8
.6

8
')

3
2
8
.6

4
'(M

)
4
.9

8
C

H
(P
) 
(3

2
8
.6

8
')

3
2
8
.6

1
'(M

)

4
.9

8
C

H
(P
) 
(3

2
8
.6

8
')

3
2
8
.3

8
'(M

)

4
.9

8
C

H
(P
) 
(3

2
8
.6

8
')

3
2
8
.7

8
'(M

)

(697.62')

10.07-1/2CH(P) 

661.28'(M)

(697.62')

10.07-1/2CH(P) 

660.56'(M)

10.07-1/2CH(P) (697.62')

661.99'(M)

10.07-1/2CH(P) (697.62')

662.69'(M)

10.07-1/2CH(P) (697.62')

657.72'(M)

10.07-1/2CH(P) (697.62')

658.43'(M)

10.07-1/2CH(P) (697.62')

659.86'(M)

1
8
.8

4
', 

0
.0

9
'W

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

C
A

P
 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E
, 

0
.0

7
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
I
R
 

W
/
I
D

O
T
 

1
.2

5
'S
, 

0
.0

9
'W

F
O

U
N

D
 

R
O

W
 

I
R
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 

I
P
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 

I
R
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 
I
P
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

0
.2

9
'S
, 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
P
 

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 
I
P
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 
I
P
 
0
.7

4
'N
, 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E

R
E

C
O

R
D
 
1
9
0
4
2
0
1

O
N
-

L
I
N

E
 

P
E

R
 

M
O

N
U

M
E

N
T
 

F
O

U
N

D
 
1
-
1
/
2
"
 
I
P
 

E
P
 
1
.8
'S

T
M
 

~
 
4
.2
'S

C
B
 

~
 
4
.2
'S

F
N

C
 

E
N

D
 
1
.7
'E

F
N

C
 

E
N

D
 
0
.2
'N
, 

0
.2
'E

F
N

C
X
 
1
.9
'W

F
O

U
N

D
 

B
E

N
T
 
I
P
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

0
.0

9
'N

W
, 

0
.1

1
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

0
.6

4
'W

0
.3

3
'S
, 

B
E

N
T
 
I
R
 

F
O

U
N

D
 

0
.0

7
'S
, 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

0
.1

4
'S
, 

8
.7

9
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 
I
P
 

F
O

U
N

D
 
1
"
 
I
P
 
0
.2

7
'S
, 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E

659.15'(M)

10.07-1/2CH(P) (697.62')

E
A

S
T
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
5

P
A

R
A

L
L

E
L
 

T
O
 

T
H

E
 

E
P
-
E
P

2
0
.8
'

CHICAGO, IL 60603

SUITE 2300

55 WEST MONROE STREET

FUNKHOUSER VEGOSEN LIEBMAN & DUNN LTD.

PREPARED FOR:

H
A

L
F
 

D
A

Y
 

R
O

A
D

S
O

U
T

H
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

T

N

R

E

43

11

SEC

T
I

O
N
 
 
 

C
O

R

N
ER

2
4

2
4

1
3

1
3

LANE

BERKSHIRE 

A.L.T.A. / N.S.P.S. LAND TITLE SURVEY

1
4
0
'(M

&
R
)

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 
L

O
T
 
15

0
.1

7
'S

E
, 

1
.6

0
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
P
 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E
, 

0
.1

0
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
P
 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E
, 

0
.8

4
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
P
 

(316.95 +/-')

279.61'(M)

2
7
.5
'

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
3
2
1
0
2
0
3

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T
 

P
E

R
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
3
2
9
7
8
0
4

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T
 

P
E

R
 

2
3
.5
'

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 
L

O
T
 
2
3

12'

HERETOFORE DEDICATED PER DOCUMENT 6094120

P
 

A
 

R
 

C
 
E
 
L
 
 
8

E
X

C
E
P

T
I
O

N
 

T
O
 

P
A

R
C

E
L
 
1

P
A

R
C

E
L
 
2

P
O
I
N

T
 

O
F
 

B
E

G
I
N

N
I
N

G

E
X

C
E
P

T
I
O

N
 

T
O
 

P
A

R
C

E
L
 
1
2

E
X

C
E
P
T
I
O

N
 
T

O
 
P

A
R

C
E
L
 
2

P
 

A
 

R
 

C
 
E
 
L
 
 
1
 
1

P
 

A
 

R
 

C
 
E
 
L
 
 
1
 
2

E
X

C
E
P

T
I
O

N
 

T
O
 

P
A

R
C

E
L
 
1
1

P
 

A
 

R
 

C
 

E
 

L
 
 
2

P
 

A
 

R
 

C
 
E
 
L
 
 
1

P
 

A
 

R
 

C
 

E
 

L
 
 
7

P A R C E L  9

LEGEND
STORM SEWER

SANITARY SEWER

WATER MAIN

SANITARY MANHOLE

STORM MANHOLE

CATCH BASIN

INLET

FIRE HYDRANT

VALVE AND VAULT

FLARED END SECTION

STREET LIGHT

UTILITY POLE

GAS MAIN

FENCE

MAILBOX

SIGN

 

 

SPRINKLER HEAD

CABLE TV UPRIGHT

TELEPHONE UPRIGHT

GAS VALVE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL

UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

OVERHEAD WIRE(S) ON UTILITY POLES

ELECTRIC MANHOLE

TELEPHONE MANHOLE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL BOX

GUARDRAIL

WATER VALVE

UNDERGROUND CATV LINE

RAILROAD

ASPHALT

CONCRETE

BOLLARD

ELECTRIC UPRIGHT

WELL

FIBER OPTIC LINE

COMBINED SEWER

UNIDENTIFIED MANHOLE

RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT

DISC

IRON / STEEL ROD

IRON PIPE

GRAVEL

E

T

T

E

C

W

G

U

W W

G G

T T

E E

CATV

FO FO

WETLAND LIMITS

EDGE OF WATER

B B BOX

AUXILIARY VALVE
PK / MAG NAIL

CUT CROSS

RAILROAD SPIKE

HAND HOLE BACK OF CURB

SUBDIVISION LIMITS

DEPRESSED CURB

BC

UTILITY POLE

TELEPHONE MANHOLE

RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT

RECORD

RAILROAD SPIKE

PLATTED

MEASURED

IRON ROD

IRON PIPE

FENCE CORNER

FENCE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT

DEED

CENTERLINE OR CENTER

CATCH BASIN

B BOX

BUILDING CORNER

BOLLARD

UP

TM

ROW

(R)

RS

(P)

(M)

IR

IP

FNCX

FNC

EP

(D)

~

CB

BB

BX

BOL

IL-22 (HALF DAY RD)

R
IV

E
R

W
O

O
D

S
 R

D

I-
9
4

W     EVERETT     RD

N.T.S.

N

LOCATION

PROJECT

VICINITY MAP

D
R 

L
LI

M 
D

L
O 

W

N

SCALE  1" = 60'

600 120

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

DISTANCES ARE MEASURED 

NOTE: ALL BEARINGS AND 

OBSERVATION IL EAST ZONE

TRUE NORTH BASED ON GEODETIC 

BASIS OF BEARINGS:

52.2' BC-BC

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

A
T
 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E
, 

3
3
.0

0
'S

E

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

30
6.73'(M

)  N35°50
'59"E(M

)

D
R
IV

E

F
A

L
L
S

T
O

N
E
 

3
.8
'S

E

F
N

C
X
 

O
LD M

ILL RO
AD

5
3
4
3
1
6
9
 

&
 
4
8
2
8
8
4
8

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T

S
 
4
8
1
3
0
7
4
 

&
 

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T
 

P
E

R
 

P
A

R
T
 
O
F
 
L
O

T
 
18

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
3
2
9
7
8
0
4

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T
 

P
E

R
 

2
3
.5
'

P
A

R
T
 
O
F
 
L
O

T
 
10

1,193.97'(M)           S00°22'11"W(M)

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

F
O

U
N

D
 

1
5
.2

7
'(M

)

S
0
0
°2

2
'4

7
"

W
(M

)

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
P
 
0
.2

9
'S

I
R
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 

N
8
9
°4

1
'0

5
"

W
(M

)

8
4
6
.4

7
'(M

)
R

O
A

D
 

A
S
 

M
O

N
U

M
E

N
T

E
D

N
O

R
T

H
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

H
A

L
F
 

D
A

Y
 

B
B
 

~
 
1
.6
'N

F
O

U
N

D
 
5
/
8
"
 
I
R
 

A
T
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

P
A

R
C

E
L
 
2
 

&
 
1
1

E
X

C
E
P

T
I
O

N
 

T
O
 

5
.0

0
'(M

)

N
0
0
°2

2
'4

7
"

E
(M

)

3
2
8
.7

2
'(M

) 
 
 
 

N
8
9
°4

1
'0

5
"

W
(M

)

HERET
O
FO

RE DEDICAT
ED PER DO

CU
M
ENT
 1874394-1

12'

5
3
4
3
1
6
9
 

&
 
4
8
2
8
8
4
8

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T

S
 
4
8
1
3
0
7
4
 

&
 

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T
 

P
E

R
 

E
A

S
T
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
5

P
A

R
A

L
L

E
L
 

T
O
 

T
H

E
 

U
P
 

~
 
1
.7
'S
 

&
 
0
.5
'E

I
B

T
 

M
A

R
K

E
R
 

~
 
2
.2
'S

U
P
 

~
 
0
.8
'S

A
N

C
H

O
R
 
1
.1
'S

G
U

Y
 

W
I
R

E
 

U
P
 

~
 
0
.5
'S

U
P
 

~
 
1
.9
'S

U
P
 

~
 
2
.0
'S

I
B

T
 

M
A

R
K

E
R
 

~
 
4
.8
'S

U
P
 

~
 
3
.9
'S

A
N

C
H

O
R
 
3
.5
'S

G
U

Y
 

W
I
R

E
 

2
.5
'S

U
P
 

~
 

E
P
 
4
.7
'S

E
P
 
3
.4
'S

58.3' BC-BC

08/31/2020

10448

10448ALTA-01

2 3

T
B

T

T

N:\Projects\10448\SURVEY\10448ALTA-01.dgn  SHEET 2  User=cduarte

101

David
Pencil



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
RESOLUTION ______________________ 

 
A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AN 

AMENDMENT TO A RECREATIONAL PATH EASEMENT 
(Florsheim) 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule power, as follows: 

SECTION 1.  FINDINGS; LEGISLATIVE INTENT.  The Mayor and Board of Trustees 
make the following legislative findings for the purpose of describing the intent for adopting this 
resolution and approving the amended easement agreement herein described. 

A. The Nancy R. Florsheim Declaration of Trust dated February 3, 1993, as amended 
(the “Grantor”), is the owner of certain property located east of Old Mill Road and north of Illinois 
Route 22. 

B. By an Amended and Restated Easement Agreement dated April 3, 2003 and 
recorded on August 25, 2003 as document 5343169 ("Easement Agreement")  Grantor's 
predecessor trustee granted, conveyed and dedicated  to the Village for the use of the public a 
perpetual easement for the purposes of constructing, improving, repairing, maintaining, operating 
and policing a public hiking and recreational path (the "Easement Area") as part of the Village's 
system of parks and recreation areas. 

C. The Village constructed and improved the recreational path shortly after the 
Easement Agreement was recorded and the Village has repaired, maintained, operated and policed 
the recreational path since its construction. 

D. It has come to the attention of the Grantor and the Village that the Village 
constructed and improved a segment of the recreational path outside of the boundaries of the 
Premises and the Easement Area. 

E. The Grantor and the Village desires to amend the Easement Agreement and the 
legal description and depiction of the Easement Areas to include all portions of the recreational 
path as constructed, maintained and operated by the Village since its construction. 

F. the Grantor desires to grant, convey and dedicate to the Village, and the Village 
desires to accept, a permanent easement on and over the amended Easement Area for the uses and 
purposes of, and subject to and in accordance with the terms, conditions and limitations of the 
Easement Agreement. 

SECTION TWO.  AMENDED EASEMENT AGREEMENT.  The First Amendment to 
Amended and Restated Easement Agreement (the “Agreement”), in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A and incorporated as though fully set forth herein, is hereby approved.  The Mayor and 
Board of Trustees hereby delegate authority to the Village Manager and Village Engineer to sign 

102



and attest to the Agreement and deliver the Agreement to the Grantor to be recorded in the Office 
of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds. 

SECTION THREE.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective upon its 
passage and approval as provided by law. 

SO RESOLVED this 29th Day of September, 2020 at Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois. 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

     APPROVED: 
 
 
 
     __________________________________ 
     Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 
 
 
 

  

103



EXHIBIT A 
 

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Easement Agreement 
 
 
 

104



 
 

This document was prepared by 
and after recording return to: 
 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

This First Amendment to Amended and Restated Easement Agreement ("First Amendment") is 
made this _____ day of ______________, 2020 between Vance L. Liebman and Wilson P. Funkhouser, as 
co-trustees of the Nancy R. Florsheim Declaration of Trust dated February 3, 1993, as amended 
(hereinafter the "Grantor") and the Village of Lincolnshire, County of Lake, State of Illinois, an Illinois 
home rule municipality and unit of local government, the Grantee, (hereinafter the "Village"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, by an Amended and Restated Easement Agreement dated April 3, 2003 and recorded 
on August 25, 2003 as document 5343169 ("Easement Agreement")  Grantor's predecessor trustee 
granted, conveyed and dedicated  to the Village for the use of the public a perpetual easement on and 
over the "Premises" (as defined in the Easement Agreement and as legally described as Parcels 1, 3, 5 
and 7 on "Exhibit A" therein and shown on "Exhibit B" therein) for the purposes of constructing, 
improving, repairing, maintaining, operating and policing a public hiking and recreational path (the 
"Easement Area" as defined in the Easement Agreement) as part of the Village's system of parks and 
recreation areas; and 

WHEREAS, Grantor is the owner in fee simple of the Premises and the Premises are part of 
several larger parcels of land also owned in fee simple by Grantor, including the two parcels legally 
described on Exhibit 1 hereof ("Grantor Properties"); and 

WHEREAS, the Grantor has been the owner in fee simple of the Grantor Properties as of the 
date of the Easement Agreement and at all times subsequent to such date; and  

WHEREAS, the Village constructed and improved the recreational path shortly after the 
Easement Agreement was recorded and the Village has repaired, maintained, operated and policed the 
recreational path since its construction; and 

WHEREAS, it has come to the attention of the Grantor and the Village that the Village 
constructed and improved a segment of the recreational path outside of the boundaries of the Premises 
and the Easement Area; and  

WHEREAS, the Grantor and the Village desires to amend the Easement Agreement and the legal 
description and depiction of the Premises and Easement Areas to include all portions of the recreational 
path as constructed, maintained and operated by the Village since its construction; and 

105



 
 

WHEREAS, the portions of the recreational path constructed, maintained and operated by the 
Village outside of the boundaries of the Premises and the Easement Area and on and across parts of the 
Grantor Properties are within the area legally described on Exhibit 2 hereof and depicted on Exhibit 3 
hereof a "Parcel 9"; and 

WHEREAS, the Grantor desires to grant, convey and dedicate to the Village, and the Village 
desires to accept, a permanent easement on and over Parcel 9 for the uses and purposes of, and subject 
to and in accordance with the terms, conditions and limitations of the Easement Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, of the mutual covenants and conditions and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the Grantor and the Village hereby agree as follows:  

A. Incorporation of Recitals. The above recitals are, and shall be construed to be, an 
integral part of this First Amendment.  

B. Amendment of Easement. The Easement Agreement is hereby amended to include 
within the permanent Easement Area granted in the Easement Agreement as set forth in Exhibit A and 
Exhibit B thereto, the area of Parcel 9 as legally described on Exhibit 2 hereof and depicted on Exhibit 3 
hereof.  Hereafter, all of the terms, conditions, covenants, promises, representations, warranties and 
limitations contained in the Easement Agreement shall be deemed to include Parcel 9 as if Parcel 9 was 
originally part of the Premises and Easement Area and as if Parcel 9 had originally been included in 
Exhibit A and Exhibit B of the Easement Agreement. 

C. Representation and Warranty of Village.  The Village hereby represents and 
warrants to the Grantor that the execution and delivery of this First Amendment has been duly, validly 
and sufficiently authorized by all individual, corporate, municipal or statutory action on the part of the 
Village and that this First Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by an individual authorized 
to act on behalf of the Village, and will constitute the valid and binding obligation of the Village, 
enforceable against the Village in accordance with the terms and conditions contained in the Easement 
Agreement. 

D. Representation and Warranty of Grantor.   Vance L. Liebman and Wilson P. 
Funkhouser, as co-trustees of the Nancy R. Florsheim Declaration of Trust dated February 3, 1993, as 
amended, each represents and warrants to the Village that this First Amendment has been duly 
executed and delivered by individuals authorized to act on behalf of said Trust and will constitute a valid 
and binding obligation of the Trust, enforceable against the Trust in accordance with the terms and 
conditions contained in the Easement Agreement. 

 
Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank; Signature Page Follows 

  

106



 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party to this First Amendment has caused it to be executed on the 
date indicated below. 

GRANTOR: 

THE NANCY FLORSHEIM TRUST 
Dated February 3, 1993, as amended 
  
By:  _____________________________  Witness: _____________________ 
            Wilson P. Funkhouser, Co-Trustee 
Date: _____________________________ 

 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this____ day of ________________, 2020. 

______________________________ 
Notary Public     SEAL: 

 

 

By:  _____________________________  Witness: _____________________ 
 Vance L. Liebman, Co-Trustee 
Date: _____________________________ 

 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this____ day of ________________, 2020. 

______________________________ 
Notary Public     SEAL: 

 

 

GRANTEE: 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE, an Illinois municipality and 
unit of local government 
 
By: ______________________________  Attest: ____________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 

Date: ______________________________  

107



 
 

Exhibit 1 

Legal Description - Grantor Properties 

PARCEL 2:   THAT PART OF LOT 15, LYING NORTH OF THE CENTER LINE OF STATE ROUTE 22 IN BROWN'S 
SUBDIVISION EXCEPT THEREFROM THAT PART OF SAID LOT 15 DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:: BEGINNING AT A POINT 
ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID STATE ROUTE 22, WHICH IS 140 FEET WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG A LINE PARALLEL TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15, A DISTANCE OF 235.4 FEET; THENCE 
WEST ALONG THE LINE PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 15, A DISTANCE OF 175 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH ALONG OF LINE PARALLEL WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT  15 TO THE NORTH LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22 TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING), BEING A SUBDIVISION OF THE 
EAST 1/2 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 AND THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTH EAST 1/4 OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 
43 NORTH, RANGE 11, EAST OF  THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED 
OCTOBER 17, 1876 AS DOCUMENT 16002, IN BOOK "A" OF PLATS, PAGE 39, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS (EXCEPT 
THAT PART TAKEN FOR RIGHT OF WAY PURPOSES IN CASE 86ED6 AND 86ED10), IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 Tax Parcel: Part of 15-13-300-050 

PARCEL 11: THAT PART OF LOT 15 IN BROWN'S SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, 
RANGE 11 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID STATE ROUTE #22, WHICH IS 140.0 FEET WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15; THENCE 
NORTH ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15 A DISTANCE OF 235.4 FEET; THENCE WEST 
ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 15 A DISTANCE OF 175 FEET; THENCE SOUTH ALONG A 
LINE PARALLEL WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15 TO THE NORTH LINE OF ROUTE #22; THENCE EAST ALONG A 
LINE OF SAID ROUTE #22 TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, (EXCEPT THAT PART DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT AN OLD 3 INCH DIAMETER METAL DISK AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 13; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREES 26 MINUTES 41 SECONDS EAST (BEARINGS ASSUMED FOR 
DESCRIPTION PURPOSES ONLY) ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 13 A DISTANCE 
OF 1414.57 FEET TO THE CENTER LINE OF ILLINOIS ROUTE 22; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 
39SECONDS EAST ALONG THE CENTER LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22, A DISTANCE OF 1973.11 FEET TO A POINT ON THE 
WESTERLY LINE OF LOT 15 AFORESAID; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 09 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE 
WESTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 15, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET TO A 1 INCHDIAMETER IRON PIPE ON THE EXISTING 
NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 39 SECONDS 
ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22 A DISTANCE OF 13.84 FEET TO A POINT OF 
BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 88DEGREES 18 MINUTES 39 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTHERLY 
RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22 A DISTANCE OF 175.00 FEET TO A 1 INCH IRON PIPE; THENCE NORTH 1 
DEGREES 37 MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST PARALLEL WITH THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 15 A DISTANCE OF 
10.00 FEET TOA 5/8 INCH DIAMETER IRON ROD WITH A 2 INCH DIAMETER ALUMINUM DISK STAMPED "ROW" 
ATTACHED THERETO; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST PARALLEL WITH THE CENTER 
LINE OF SAID ROUTE 22 A DISTANCE OF 175.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 1 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 44SECONDS EAST 
PARALLEL WITH THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 15 A DISTANCE OF 10.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING) IN 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 Tax Parcel:  15-13-300-040  

108



 
 

Exhibit 2 

Legal Description - Parcel 9 

PATH EASEMENT:  

THAT PART OF LOT 15 IN BROWN’S SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED 
OCTOBER 17, 1876 AS DOCUMENT NO. 16002 IN THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 43 NORTH, RANGE 11 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPLE MERIDIAN, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15 AND THE CENTERLINE OF 
ILLINOIS STATE ROUTE 22; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST (BEING AN 
ASSUMED BEARING) ALONG SAID EAST LINE 47.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 
89 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 05 SECONDS WEST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH SAID CENTERLINE, 140.00 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST PARALLEL WITH SAID EAST LINE 5.00 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 05 SECONDS WEST PARALLEL WITH SAID CENTERLINE 
40.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST PARALLEL WITH SAID EAST LINE 
11.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 05 SECONDS EAST PARALLEL WITH SAID 
CENTERLINE 180.00 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT 15; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 
47 SECONDS WEST ALONG SAID EAST LINE 16.00 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS. 

CONTAINING 0.062 ACRES OR 2,680 SQUARE FEET MORE OR LESS. 

PART OF PINS: 
(15-13-300-040 & 15-13-300-050) 

 

PREPARED BY: SPACECO INC. (JC) 

DATED: September 22, 2020 

 

  

109



 
 

Exhibit 3 

Depiction of Easement Area - Parcel 9 

(Easement Exhibit prepared by SpaceCo Inc., dated 9/22/2020, file name 10448EXB-01) 

110



T

B

PART OF LOT 15

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
0

P
A

R
T
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
8

AS 
DOCUMENT 

16
00

2

RECORDED 
OCTOBER 

17
, 

18
76

BROWN'
S 

SUBDI
VI

SI
ON

E
A

S
T
 

L
I
N

E
 

O
F
 

L
O

T
 
1
5

P
A

R
A

L
L

E
L
 

T
O
 

T
H

E
 

DATE: JOB NO:FILENAME:

Phone: (847) 696-4060  Fax: (847) 696-4065

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

9575 W. Higgins Road,  Suite 700,

PART 
OF 

LO
T 

15

IP AT CORNER

FOUND 3/4" 
IR AT CORNER

FOUND 5/8" 

C
A

P
 

O
N
-

L
I
N

E
, 

0
.0

7
'E

F
O

U
N

D
 
I
R
 

W
/
I
D

O
T
 

IR AT CORNER

FOUND 5/8" 

IR AT CORNER

FOUND 5/8" HALF DAY ROAD
(ALSO KNOWN AS ROUTE 22)

HERETOFORE DEDICATED FOR PUBLIC USE

~ OF HALF DAY ROAD

140'(M&R)

EAST LINE OF LOT 15

PARALLEL TO THE 

5
0
'

3
5
'

4
0
'

10448EXB-01 10448

EASEMENT EXHIBIT

HALF DAY ROAD
OLD MILL ROAD & 

LINCOLNSHIRE, ILLINOIS09/22/20

1
6
'

1
1
' S89°41'05"E

180.00'

N89°41'05"W140.00'

S
0
0
°2

2
'4

7
"

W
1
6
.0

0
'

N00°22'47"E
5.00'

N89°41'05"W
40.00'

N
0
0
°2

2
'4

7
"

E
1
1
.0

0
'

1
2
'

FOUND ROW 1.25'S, 0.09'W

& 5343169 & 4828848

DOCUMENTS 4813074 

EASEMENT PER 

EAST LINE OF LOT 15

PEDESTRIAN PATH EASEMENT 

FOUND 5/8" IR AT CORNER

SCALE  1" = 50'

50'0

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT
4
7
.0

0
'

POINT OF BEGINNING

111


	1.0_RVB_Agenda
	4.31_2020_08_Revenue_and_Expense_Summary
	2020 R&E w BSA.xlsx
	2020 R&E w BSA.xlsx

	5.1_2020_09_29_Bills
	Prelist_APBankTrf.xlsx
	CustomInvoiceReport

	7.1 09-14-2020 RVB Minutes
	7.2 09-14-2020 COW Minutes
	7.3_UrbanAgriculture_Beekeeping_SeasonalStructures_AccessoryStructures_COMBINED
	2020_09_29_RVB_UrbanAgriculture_Beekeeping_SeasonalStructures_AccessoryStructures_MEMO.pdf
	2020_09_29_RVB_Ordinance Approving Zoning Code Amendments - Urban Agriculture - REDLINED
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
	LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

	2020_09_29_RVB_Ordinance Approving Zoning Code Amendments - Urban Agriculture - CLEAN
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
	LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS


	8.22_GovIT_Master_Contract
	8.22_GovIT_Master_Contract
	2020_InterDev_GovIT_Master_Contract
	Untitled_06302020_043516 (002).pdf
	202007081330.pdf


	8.31_Bike_Path_Easement_Ammendment

	Return to Agenda: 


